
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

ORDINARY MEETING OF THE 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

In The Arts Centre, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton on 

Wednesday, 12 December 2018 at 7.15 pm

Public Document Pack



Councillors are hereby summoned to an ORDINARY MEETING OF THE HIGH PEAK BOROUGH 
COUNCIL at The Arts Centre, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton at 7.15 pm on Wednesday, 12 December 2018.

Tuesday, 4 December 2018

Page No.

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matter before the Council 
i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
ii) Other Interests

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meetings 

a) Minutes - 13 September 2018 5 - 8
b) Minutes - 7 November 2018 9 - 10

4. Mayor's announcements 

5. Questions of which notice has been given 

6. To approve the recommendations from the Executive 11 - 12

a) Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23 13 - 66
7. To approve the recommendations from the Audit and Regulatory Committee 67 - 68

a) Treasury Management Update 69 - 80
b) Appointment of Mayor 2019/20 81 - 82

8. To approve the recommendations from the Licensing Committee 83 - 84

a) Gambling Policy Update (Statement of Principles 2019-2022) 85 - 124
9. To approve the recommendations from the Standards Committee 125 - 126

a) Standards Committee Annual Report 2017/18 127 - 134
10. Notices of Motion 

a) Breaking Point Campaign 135 - 136
b) Council Tax Collection Protocol 137 - 138
c) Single Use Plastics 139 - 140

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

High Peak Borough Council





This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Borough Council

MINUTES OF AN ORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Meeting: Thursday, 13 September 2018 at 7.15 pm in The Arts Centre, Pavilion 
Gardens, Buxton

Present: Councillor L Grooby (Chairman)

Councillors T Ashton, R Atkins, A Barrow, J Douglas, L Dowson, P Easter, 
S Flower, J Haken, S Helliwell, C Howe, I Huddlestone, P Jenner, J Kappes, 
E Kelly, T Kemp, D Kerr, D Lomax, J McCabe, A McKeown, R McKeown, 
G Oakley, J Perkins, J Pritchard, R Quinn, P N Roberts, E Siddall, 
K Sizeland, F Sloman, E Thrane, J Todd, J Walton, G Wharmby and 
J Wharmby

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Claff, A Fox, 
D Greenhalgh, P Hardy, C Johnson, N Longos, M Stone and S Young

18/10 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTER BEFORE 
THE COUNCIL
(Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of interest made.

18/11 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS
(Agenda Item 3)

It was moved by Councillor Ashton and seconded by Councillor Kemp that 
the minutes of the Ordinary and Annual meetings of Council held on 3 May 
2018 be approved as a correct record.

The motion was carried and the Mayor was authorised to sign the minutes.

18/12 MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
(Agenda Item 4)

The Mayor announced that there would be a Special meeting of Council on 
7 November 2018 to award the Freedom of the Borough to the branches of 
the Royal British Legion within the High Peak area, which would be followed 
by a reception.

The Mayor’s Civic Service would be on 23 September at Buxton Methodist 
Church.

The Mayor’s Civic Ball would be held on 9 March 2019 in Pavilion Gardens.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a



Minutes of the Proceedings of a Meeting of the Council
Thursday, 13 September 2018

18/13 TO APPROVE THE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE EXECUTIVE  - 21 
JUNE 2018
(Agenda Item 6)

It was moved by Councillor Thrane and seconded by Councillor Ashton that 
Council:

Performance Framework 2018/19 (incorporating the Annual Report 
2017/18 and revised Corporate Plan 2018 – 2019)

Approve the revised Corporate Plan.

When put to the meeting, it was RESOLVED accordingly.

18/14 TO APPROVE THE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE AUDIT AND 
REGULATORY COMMITTEE - 25 JULY 2018
(Agenda Item 7)

It was moved by Councillor Sloman and seconded by Councillor Sizeland 
that Council:

Annual Treasury Management Report 2017/18

Approve the Annual Treasury Management Report 2017/18

Treasury Management Update: Mid-Year Report 2018/19

Note the treasury management position (as at 30 June 2018)

When put to the meeting it was RESOLVED accordingly.

18/15 NOTICE OF MOTION - AIR POLLUTION
(Agenda Item 8a)

It was moved by Councillor Lomax and seconded by Councillor Atkins:

“This council welcomes the recent press release highlighting the problems 
of air pollution caused by traffic in the Tintwistle area and the establishing of 
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). However, this is not the only area 
in the High Peak where pollution from traffic is a concern. The late summer 
opening of the Manchester Airport Relief Road from its junction with the A6, 
south of Hazel Grove, through to the Airport may have serious 
consequences for future traffic flow along the A6 in the High Peak - with the 
section between the Bridgemont Roundabout, near Whaley Bridge, and the 
Cheshire East boundary at Newtown being the worst affected. It is widely 
anticipated that the opening of the Relief Road will attract additional traffic 
from all over the East Midlands onto the A6, bound for Manchester Airport 
and the motorway network – traffic which has previously used a variety of 
other routes.

This Council is concerned about the likely adverse health effects caused by 
increased air pollution, as well as further deteriorating traffic congestion – 
and calls for High Peak Borough Council to:Page 6



Minutes of the Proceedings of a Meeting of the Council
Thursday, 13 September 2018

 publicise the results of monitoring of air quality that has taken place 
along the A6 route since 2010.

 initiate an increase in air quality monitoring along the affected route – 
with a trial monthly operation for the first year after the opening of the 
relief road in the case of the A6 through Bridgemont, Furness Vale 
and Newtown

 liaise with Network Rail and Northern on how they can provide 
radically enhanced parking facilities at stations in the affected area, in 
an attempt to persuade even more motorists to commute by rail

 liaise with Derbyshire County Council - and other nearby highway 
authorities - about the long-term implications of predicted increase in 
traffic along the A6 corridor.”

When put to the meeting it was RESOLVED accordingly.

18/16 NOTICE OF MOTION - HOUSEHOLD WASTE BIN CHARGES
(Agenda Item 8b)

It was moved by Councillor Atkins and seconded by Councillor Lomax:

“This Council believes that the current system of deciding whether or not to 
charge a householder for replacing a damaged or missing waste bin is 
inconsistent.  

At present, with regard to damaged bins, the Council agrees to bear the cost 
of a damaged bin when it is accepted that the Council’s waste contractor is 
responsible for the damage - otherwise the householder is asked to pay.

On the other hand, the Council asks the householder to pay for replacement 
of all missing bins – regardless of who is culpable.

This Council meeting now resolves that this situation is unacceptable and 
that  where there is clear evidence that a householder is not responsible for 
the disappearance of one or more waste bins from their property and, 
particularly, where there is a strong suggestion that the Council may bear 
responsibility - such as on collection day - then the Council should carry the 
cost.”

As an amendment, it was proposed by Councillor A. McKeown and 
seconded by Councillor Ashton that the motion should be referred to the 
Community Select Committee for consideration.

When put to the meeting, the amendment was RESOLVED accordingly.

18/17 NOTICE OF MOTION - LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDING
(Agenda Item 8c)

It was moved by Councillor Kelly, and seconded by Councillor Sloman:

“This Council believes:

Page 7



Minutes of the Proceedings of a Meeting of the Council
Thursday, 13 September 2018

1. Local authorities have reached the point where relentless financial 
cutbacks are putting the well-being of vulnerable adults and children 
at risk,  Lord Porter, the Conservative Chair of the Local Government 
Association has stated that Local Government services are at 
‘breaking point’, and in consequence there is urgent need for 
significant and ‘genuinely new additional Government funding’ to be 
made available for Local Government, and that there is an urgent 
need for Central Government to resume wide-scale investment. 

 
In light of the above, this Council therefore resolves to:

1. Request that the Chief Executive of the High Peak Borough Council 
prepares a letter, to be addressed to the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer, supporting Lord Porter’s calls for ‘genuinely new 
additional Government funding’ for Local Government as part of a 
wider call for an end to ‘austerity’.”

As an amendment, it was moved by Councillor Ashton and seconded by 
Councillor McCabe:

This Council notes Lord Gary Porter’s remarks about the financial 
challenges facing local government as reported in the Guardian of 3 July 
2018 immediately before the Local Government Association Conference. 
The Council acknowledges in particular the pressures on local authorities 
with responsibilities for social care and vulnerable young people.

The Council looks forward to the publication of the government’s Green 
Paper on Social Care this autumn and to the longer term reviews of local 
government and other public funding in 2019 which will form the basis of a 
new financial settlement from 2020. The Council will respond to consultation 
on the government’s proposals at the appropriate time.

When put to the meeting, the amendment was RESOLVED accordingly.

The meeting concluded at 8.36 pm

MAYOR

Page 8



High Peak Borough Council

MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Meeting: Wednesday, 7 November 2018 at 7.15 pm in The Octagon, Pavilion Gardens, 
Buxton

Present: Councillor L Grooby (Chairman)

Councillors T Ashton, A Barrow, J Douglas, L Dowson, P Easter, S Flower, 
A Fox, D Greenhalgh, J Haken, P Hardy, C Howe, C Johnson, J Kappes, 
T Kemp, D Kerr, D Lomax, N Longos, J McCabe, A McKeown, R McKeown, 
J Perkins, J Pritchard, R Quinn, P N Roberts, E Siddall, K Sizeland, 
F Sloman, M Stone, E Thrane, J Todd, J Walton, G Wharmby, J Wharmby 
and S Young

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Atkins, G Claff, 
S Helliwell, I Huddlestone, P Jenner, E Kelly and G Oakley

18/18 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTER BEFORE 
THE COUNCIL
(Agenda Item 2)

Councillors Dowson, Perkins, G. Wharmby and J. Wharmby declared “other 
interests” (reason: members of the Royal British Legion).

18/19 HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH
(Agenda Item 4)

It was proposed by Councillor Ashton and seconded by Councillor A. 
McKeown that in pursuance of the provisions of Section 249 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, in recognition of their eminent services to the people 
of the Borough over many years, the Council do hereby confer the Honorary 
Freedom of the Borough upon the branches of the Royal British Legion 
within the High Peak.

When put to the meeting it was RESOLVED accordingly.

The meeting concluded at 7.35 pm

MAYOR

Page 9

Agenda Item 3b



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Council 

12 December 2018

To approve the following recommendations of the Executive.

a) UPDATED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2019/20 TO 2022/23

RECOMMENDED:

That the Council approves the updated Medium Term Financial Plan.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

TITLE: Recommendations from the Executive – 
6 December 2018

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark Trillo, Executive Director (People) & 
Monitoring Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: As detailed in the attached report

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to The Executive

6 December 2018

Appendices Attached
 Appendix A - Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 This report presents the Council’s updated Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). The MTFP presents the Council’s priorities in the context of the likely 
resources available, providing a financial context to future decision-making.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Executive approve the updated Medium Term Financial Plan 
(Appendix A).

3. Executive Summary

3.1      The medium term financial planning process provides the Council with the 
opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in accordance with local 
priorities and against the backdrop of unprecedented public sector financial 
constraint.

3.2      The plan is updated in accordance with the budget cycle. This version of the 
MTFP presents the Council’s finances over a four-year period, namely 
2019/20 to 2022/23. It sets the context for the preparation of the 2019/20 
budget which will need to be approved by the Council in February 2019.  

3.3      The Plan provides: 

 Details of local spending influences in the context of the Corporate Plan 

TITLE: Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 
to 2022/23

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Emily Thrane – Executive Councillor for 
Finance & Operational Services

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Procurement 
Manager

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Page 13

Agenda Item 6a

http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/10Oct12/SMDC%20-%20MTFP%20Oct%202012%20(2)Agenda%20Item%207.doc
http://smdcintranet/committeeagendas/2012-13/Overview%20&%20Scrutiny/Resources/10Oct12/SMDC%20-%20MTFP%20Oct%202012%20(2)Agenda%20Item%207.doc


 A focus on the transformation programme and the consequential financial 
implications, including the capital programme, housing revenue account 
(HRA) review and efficiency & rationalisation plan 

 Updated inflation and interest assumptions using the latest forecasts and 
the impact of any budgetary demand and a review of funding streams

 An update on any national issues that will impact on the Council’s financial 
position

3.4      The previous version of the MTFP was agreed by the Council in February 
2018 when setting the budget for the current financial year. The Plan identified 
a remaining £1.8 million budget shortfall over a three year period on the 
general fund (2018/19 – 2020/21) – with £0.31 million savings achieved in 
2017/18. This was primarily as a result of the reduction in Government funding 
including the phasing out of Revenue Support Grant by 2019/20 and changes 
to the New Homes Bonus funding system.  

3.5       There was also an assumed overall use of £1.96 million in reserves in order to 
balance the MTFP.

3.6      A new financial year (2022/23) has now been added to the plan, which 
forecasts a very small deficit of £7,220. In addition, the overall financial 
assumptions have been updated for the four years, and taking account of the 
projected 2018/19 surplus position as forecast in the Quarter Two report – this 
results in a reduction to the overall required use of reserves by the end of 
2022/23 of £258,620. However, this is subject to progression of the current 
efficiency programme and changes to financial assumptions going forward.  

3.7      Achieving a balanced budget over the medium-term relies upon delivery of the 
Council's approved efficiency & rationalisation strategy.  A new efficiency 
programme was presented and approved as part of the MTFP update in 
February 2017 which focused on both reducing expenditure and increasing 
income.  The main areas of focus being:

• Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a 
number of large service functions which are currently provided by an 
external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming 
to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with 
proper consideration of the current financial constraints.  The contract 
commitments have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services 
across the alliance with High Peak.  The individual projects will focus on 
Waste Collection & Environment Services, Leisure Management and 
Facilities Management

• Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of 
rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in 
order to allow for the necessary capital investment

• Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic 
growth based upon the established Local Plan. 

• Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources 
of income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

Page 14



• Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority 
areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-
statutory services 

3.8      Current progression against the efficiency programme is positive, with the 
2017/18 target achieved and £345,650 against the £581,000 target achieved 
so far in 2018/19. However, the ability to limit the impact of the reduction in 
central government support and continue to achieve the overall 4 year 
efficiency programme target is underpinned by the following:-

 The realisation of savings from the continued implementation of the 
alternative delivery model for Waste, Streets and Parks via the transfer of 
services to trading company Alliance Environment Services

 A review of current leisure centre provision in order to reduce the 
Council’s subsidy

 The delivery of the Local Plan in order to achieve income generation from 
sustained housing and economic growth 

 Reviewing fees and charges and identifying new sources of income 
generation 

 Retained business rates through economic growth and the saving of the 
levy payable to central government as a consequence of the Council's 
membership of the Derbyshire Business Rates Pool (as per the current 
business rates system) and potential benefits of a 75% business rates 
retention scheme going forward;

3.9 The MTFP also assumes a Council Tax increase of 2.9% in 2019/20 and an 
annual 1.9% increase in Council Tax 2020/21 – 2022/23.

3.10 The General Fund capital programme has been updated to reflect the 2017/18 
outturn position, projections for 2018/19 and any reprofiling required over the 
life of the MTFP. The Council is in the process of producing an Asset 
Management Strategy to ensure the future delivery of efficient asset 
management.  Progress on this will be reported within the Budget and MTFP 
presented in February 2019.   

3.11 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) was showing a surplus position of 
£497,790 by 2021/22 in February 2018 as a result of the £1.2 million HRA 
Improvement Plan savings target in response to the 1% annual rent reduction 
(over a four year period) announced by Government. It also assumed a 
reduced capital programme of £3.9million per annum, pending the stock 
condition results.

3.12 The HRA capital programme has also been updated to reflect the results of 
the recent stock condition surveys – assuming a straight-line provision 
requirement of approx. £4.2 million per annum over the 30-year Business Plan 
at this stage.   

3.13 Consequently, and with the additional of a new financial year (2022/23), the 
HRA is now showing a surplus position of £365,580 by the end of the plan 
period. 

Page 15



3.14 An updated 30-year HRA business plan will be presented alongside the 
Budget and MTFP in February 2019.

3.15 As previously stated, this version of the MTFP sets the context for the 
development of the 2019/20 Budget.  Members will receive a further update of 
the MTFP when considering the final budget proposals in February 2019. The 
following actions will need to be completed to ensure that these proposals are 
robust:   

 Complete review of the Council's transformation programme and revised 
forecasts as required 

 Development of the Council’s Capital Strategy, review of progress on the 
development of the Council’s Asset Management Strategy and the 
incorporation of the latest Land Disposal Strategy capital receipts 
projections 

 Further development of the HRA Business Plan incorporating HRA review 
recommendations and stock condition information resulting in an updated 
30-year Business Plan presented for approval

 Development of detailed budget plans for 2019/20
 Development of detailed proposals for fees and charges increases 
 Review progress of the efficiency programme 
 Complete review of reserves and balances
 Continue to monitor the ongoing issues arising from the Autumn budget, 

retention of business rates and the associated financial implications for the 
Council 

3.16 Alongside the Budget and MTFP presented in February 2019, an updated 30 
year HRA Business Plan and Capital Strategy will be also be presented for 
approval.

4.      How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report.

5.      Options and Analysis

5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage. Options will be need to be 
developed in order to close the financial deficits highlighted in this updated 
plan.

6.  Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

Page 16



6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 
Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans.

6.4 Financial Considerations
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report.

6.5 Legal
None.

16.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 External Consultation
The Council’s budget plans are the subject of an annual public consultation 
exercise. Full details are contained within the plan

6.8  Risk A Risk Assessment
A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details

Various background working papers Buxton Town Hall Claire Hazeldene 
Finance & Procurement 
Manager
01538 395400 Ext. 4191

Keith Pointon 
Principal Finance Officer 
(Financial Planning)
01538 395400 Ext. 4193

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2019/20 to 2022/23

November 2018

Page 19



INDEX

1 Introduction

2 Strategic Priorities

3     Current Spending Levels 

4 Transformation Programme
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Capital Strategy (to be presented Feb 2019)
4.3 Capital Programme 
4.4 Housing Revenue Account Review 
4.5 Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy
4.6 Member Priority Projects
4.7 Alliance Environment Services (AES)

5 Financial Forecasts
5.1 Interest Rates
5.2 Inflationary Projections
5.3 Budgetary Demand
5.4 Budget Growth
5.5 Pensions
5.6 HRA - Other Operating Expenditure

6 Funding & Income Generation
6.1 Council Tax 
6.2 Business Rates Retention 

        6.3    Collection Fund
6.4 Income from Government Grants
6.5 Fees & Charges

7 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 
 
8 MTFP Revenue Position 

8.1 General Fund Revenue Position
8.2 HRA Revenue Position

9 Consultation

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme
Annex B Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme  
Annex C MTFP Principal Risks
Annex D Proposed Revenue Budget (General Fund & HRA)

Page 20



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s 
budget and policy frameworks. It aims to ensure that resources are directed 
effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. It 
describes the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and 
outlines the financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next 
4 years.  

1.2. The medium-term financial planning process establishes how available 
resources will be allocated to services in line with the Council’s priorities which 
have been determined following consultation with residents, councillors and 
other stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the prudent 
management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for the needs 
of residents over the long term.  

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly to fit in with the budget cycle. This review of the 
MTFP builds on the existing plan and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and 
capital financial projections over the four years 2019/20 to 2022/23.  It also 
includes an assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer-term financial 
issues which have the potential to impact on the Council. 

1.4. The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is 
an optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services 
 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what’s put in (productivity) 
 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative) 

2. STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by 
members of the Council.

2.2. Following the last elections in May 2015, there was a fundamental review of the 
Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2015-2019 (up to the end of the current 
political administration).

2.3. The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2015-2019) articulates the aims, 
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over this 
period. Its delivery is measured through the Performance Framework, which 
has at its centre the three pillars of value for money - efficiency, economy and 
effectiveness.  It in effect determines the Council’s commitments in the delivery 
of services and community leadership to the citizens of High Peak.

Page 21



2.4. The Council’s Corporate Plan has been developed after taking into account the 
views and aspirations of High Peak citizens and having come to a clear 
understanding of empirical evidence. The plan has taken due recognition of the 
national and regional policy framework.  It has taken on board learning from the 
progress made by the Council and has benefitted from input from Members at a 
priority setting event which was held in July 2015.

2.5. The opportunity was taken, at the mid-point of the current administration, to 
reflect on the progress made during the first two years of the Plan and to 
reiterate the Council’s commitment to the remaining objectives as well as 
adding any new areas of priority that have emerged since the Plan was first 
developed.

2.6. The Council is now in the last year of the current Corporate Plan, with High 
Peak Borough Elections taking place in May 2019.

2.7. The Council’s vision is expressed as:   

“Delivering excellent services to High Peak residents and demonstrating value 
for money”

This vision is articulated further by four aims:

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and 
work

 Meet financial challenges & provide value for money
 Support economic development & regeneration
 Protect and improve the environment

2.8. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 

Aim Objectives

1 Help create a safer and 
healthier environment 
for our residents to live 
and work

 Effective relationship with strategic partners
 Fit for purpose housing stock that meets the needs of 

tenants
 Effective support of community safety arrangements
 Provision of high quality leisure facilities

2 Meet its financial 
challenges and provide 
value for money

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure 
value for money

 Ensure our services are easily available to all our 
residents in the appropriate channels and provided ‘right 
first time’

 A high performing and highly motivated workforce
 More effective use of Council assets

Page 22



Aim Objectives

3 Support economic 
development and 
regeneration

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises
 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy
 Promote tourism
 High quality development and building control with an 

‘open for business approach’

4 Protect and improve 
the environment 

 Effective recycling and waste management
 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets 

and environmental health
 Provision of quality parks and open spaces
 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of 

residents, businesses and visitors

2.9. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. 
In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role. Fulfilling this 
role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key areas in order to 
ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the needs and 
aspirations of citizens. The priorities for the Council’s influencing role will be 
focused in the following areas:

 Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including the 
Crescent 

 Press for more regular and faster rail links and road infrastructure
 Provision of accessible health and social care
 Support the police in dealing with anti social behaviour
 Work with partners to bring additional funding into the Borough

2.10. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in the 
development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion 
of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them: 

Aim Priority Outcomes

1 Help create a safer and 
healthier environment for our 
residents to live and work

 Good quality social housing provision
 Improved health

2 Meet financial challenges and 
provide value for money

 Balanced and sustainable medium 
term financial position

 Council services provide value for 
money

 High level of resident and customer 
satisfaction

3
Support economic 
development and 
regeneration

 Sustainable towns and rural 
communities

 Increased economic growth

4
Protect and improve the 
environment 

 High recycling rates
 Quality parks and open spaces and 

clean streets

Page 23



2.11. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council, formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of 
efficiency and realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the 
implementation and transformation of a joint management structure and 
services, consequently realising significant efficiency savings. 

2.12. The Council intends to continue to drive savings and service improvements 
through collaboration with its Alliance partner.

3. CURRENT SPENDING LEVELS

3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of 
spending and the approved capital expenditure commitments.

General Fund Revenue Budget  

3.2. The Council’s current year (2018/19) General Fund budget can be summarised 
as follows:

Income and Expenditure 2018/19 
Budget

 £
Employees 13,143,140
Premises 4,383,410
Transport 848,180
Supplies & Services 9,824,360
Benefits 82,460
Borrowing 1,694,500
Parish Grant 51,320
Financing Costs 191,000

Total Expenditure 30,218,370
 
Fees and Charges / Other Income (11,835,770)
Interest Receipts (139,940)
Capital Recharges (231,240)
HRA Recharges (7,035,080)
 
Net Expenditure 10,976,340

 

Page 24



3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows: 

Financing 2018/19 
Budget

 £
Council Tax (5,629,940)
Government Funding -
New Homes Bonus (531,810)
Business Rates Retention (3,491,470)
Collection Fund Deficit 1,037,070
Contribution to / (from) Reserves & Balances (1,811,090)
Efficiency Requirement (549,100)
Total Financing (10,976,340)

 
 
Housing Revenue Account Budget  

3.4. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ‘ring-fenced’ account that ensures 
the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded 
from the income generated by rents and other related sources. 

3.5. The Council’s current year (2018/19) Housing Revenue Account budget can be 
summarised as follows: 

Budget Heading 2018/19 
Budget

 £
Repairs & Maintenance 3,905,060
Supervision & Management 3,201,800
Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges 105,200
Other Operating Expenditure 712,110
Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,904,200
HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 1,744,610
Total Expenditure 14,672,010
Dwellings Rents (14,230,620)
Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (617,730)
Total Income (14,848,350)
Original (Surplus) / Deficit for year (176,340)
Additional HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 323,480
Revised (Surplus) / Deficit for year 147,140

3.5.1. Following approval to carry forward capital schemes of £115,000 from 
2017/18 and a further increase to the 2018/19 programme of £208,480 in 
order to fund the purchase of fleet vehicles, the original in year surplus of 
£176,340 has been revised to the current in year deficit position of £147,140.

5.12

Page 25



General Fund Capital Budget

3.6. The medium-term projection for General Fund capital commitments approved 
by Council in February 2018 is detailed below:

Service Area 201718 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
New Housing Schemes 142,000 301,050 597,000 340,000 340,000 1,720,050
Asset Management Plan 3,221,360 2,738,440 2,452,640 455,000 2,137,800 11,005,240
Housing Grants 443,510 482,730 421,000 421,000    421,000 2,189,240
ICT Strategy 104,310 9,640 9,640        9,640 9,640 142,870
Other Schemes 264,470 406,370 325,000 45,000 45,000 1,085,840
Total Programme 4,175,650 3,938,230 3,805,280 1,270,640 2,953,440 16,143,240
Financed by:      
External Contributions 508,990 482,730 421,000 421,000    421,000 2,254,720
Capital Receipts    142,000    801,050    787,000    849,640    750,000 3,329,690
Capital Reserve - - - - -
S106 Planning Obligations - - - - -
Borrowing 3,524,660 2,654,450 2,597,280 0 1,782,440 10,558,830
Total  Financing 4,175,650 3,938,230 3,805,280 1,270,640 2,953,440 16,143,240

Housing Revenue Account Capital Budget

3.7. The medium-term projection for Housing Revenue Account capital 
commitments approved by Council in February 2018 was as follows:

 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total

 £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management works 3,652,200 3,638,000 3,441,000 3,441,000 3,441,000 17,558,200
Repairs Team Capital works 395,000 413,000 395,000 395,000 395,000 1,993,000
Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 555,000
Total Programme 4,147,200 4,151,000 3,936,000 3,936,000 3,936,000 20,106,200

     
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 10,495,150
HRA Contribution 1,659,170 1,644,610 1,775,970 1,836,970 1,836,970 8,753,690
Capital Receipts 389,000 307,360 61,000 - - 757,360
Major Voids Reserve - 100,000 - - - 100,000
Total Financing 4,147,200 4,151,000 3,936,000 3,936,000 3,936,000 20,106,200
      

Page 26



4. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME

4.1. Introduction

4.1.1. The Council’s ‘transformation programme’ incorporates all major projects 
which meet the strategic priorities of the Authority and have significant 
financial implications, including:
 Reference to the Capital Strategy (to be presented in February 2019)
 The Capital Programme
 Housing Revenue Account 
 The Efficiency and Rationalisation strategy
 Member Priority Projects
 Alliance Environment Services (AES)

4.1.2. The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by a 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, Heads of Service along with key 
Corporate Service Managers and officers. A Director is allocated as ‘project 
executive’ and a full business case appraisal is completed for each project.

4.1.3. The progress and current financial projections of the transformation 
programme is explored below along with any potential revenue 
consequences.  Any further work required to identify the financial implications 
of the programme are discussed and will feed into the 2019/20 budget setting 
process.

4.2 Capital Strategy

4.2.1 The 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires 
Local Authorities to produce a ‘Capital Strategy’ from 2019/20.  The Strategy 
should demonstrate that capital expenditure and investment decisions are 
taken in line with the Council’s Corporate Plan and service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability.

4.2.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 
the provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future sustainability.  It allows individual 
Authorities to give greater weight to local circumstances and explain their 
approach to borrowing and investment.

4.2.3 The Strategy should form part of the Authority’s integrated revenue, capital 
and balance sheet planning and set out the long term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made.  It is an integral component 
of the MTFP but should be aligned with:-
- Corporate Plan Objectives
- Asset management Strategy
- Treasury Management Strategy
- Procurement Strategy

Page 27



4.2.4 The Council will be presenting its Capital Strategy alongside the Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Plan in February 2019.

4.3.      Capital Programme 

General Fund Capital Programme

4.3.1. The General Fund Capital Programme approved by members in February 
2018 has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position 
in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2023. 

4.3.2. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below. Full detail is attached in Annex A. 

Service Area 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total 
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Housing 178,000 597,000 667,000 667,000 667,000 2,776,000
Asset Management 2,332,990 3,612,430 405,000 2,129,160 1,351,830 9,831,410
Growth Fund            -               -               -               -                -               -   
Housing Grants 615,650 421,000 421,000 421,000 421,000 2,299,650
ICT Strategy 9,640 9,640 9,640 9,640              -   38,560
Other Schemes 2,975,260 325,000 45,000 45,000              -   3,390,260
Total Programme 6,111,540 4,965,070 1,547,640 3,271,800 2,439,830 18,335,880

Financed by:-
External Contributions 615,650 421,000 421,000 421,000 421,000 2,299,650
Capital 
Receipts/Reserves 986,480 887,000 1,126,640 1,527,360 767,000 5,294,480
General Fund Balances 387,710             -               -               -                -   387,710
S106 Planning            -               -               -               -                -               -   
Borrowing 4,121,700 3,657,070             -   1,323,440 1,251,830 10,354,040
Total Financing 6,111,540 4,965,070 1,547,640 3,271,800 2,439,830 18,335,880

4.3.3. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £897,650 capital 
budgets from 2017/18 and an increase to the 2018/19 programme of 
£2,547,070 (to fund the purchase of operational fleet) as approved by 
Executive in April 2018. 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme

4.3.4. The Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme approved by members in 
February 2018 has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest 
position in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2023.

Page 28



 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management works 3,469,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 19,081,000
Repairs Team Capital works 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,475,000
Asset Purchases 208,480 - - - - 208,480
Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
Total Programme 4,072,480 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 21,264,480

Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 10,495,150
HRA Contribution 1,566,090 2,137,970 2,198,970 2,198,970 2,198,970 10,300,970
Capital Receipts 307,360 61,000 - - - 368,360
Major Voids Reserve 100,000 - - - - 100,000
Total Financing 4,072,480 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 21,264,480
      

4.3.5. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £115,000 from 
2017/18 and an increase to the 2018/19 programme of £208,480 (to fund the 
purchase of operational fleet) as approved by Executive in April 2018.

  Asset Management Plan (AMP) – General Fund  

4.3.6. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base, which delivers the 
ambitions of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  This 
is becoming increasingly difficult due to the age of a number of the Council’s 
key buildings and the shrinking amount of financial resources available to 
support service delivery.

4.3.7. A stock condition survey was undertaken on the Council’s property assets in 
2016.  Subsequently, a report detailing the outcomes and actions emerging 
was presented to the Executive in July 2016. This included the potential 
capital and revenue financial implications of maintaining the Council’s current 
property assets over a 30-year period.  This has then been regularly reviewed 
and updated to take account of any changes and updates to stock information 
since July 2016.

4.3.8. The surveys confirmed that a number of the Council’s operational assets are 
dated in appearance, have structural issues or urgent health and safety work 
requirements or the electrical and mechanical infrastructure require updating.  
The investment required to ensure the assets remain fit for purpose is 
significant over the 30 year period and would consequently impact on future 
revenue budgets.  

4.3.9. Therefore, the report discusses the options to either reduce the amount of 
capital expenditure or reduce the impact on revenue of the necessary capital 
spending:
 Asset rationalisation
 Shared use of assets
 Reduction in specification and functionality

Page 29



 Generate additional capital receipts
 Identify grants to support investment
 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings 

4.3.10. The current 30 year programme includes significant early investment in key 
public buildings: Pavilion Gardens, Buxton Town Hall and Glossop Halls.  

4.3.11. Options are being explored for an alternative usage for Buxton Town Hall 
which aim to reduce the investment required and realise savings.  

4.3.12. The roofing works at Glossop Town Hall are now progressing utilising the 
£2million provision in the capital programme.  A second bid is being 
progressed for external funding towards the wider Glossop Halls renovation 
project.  

4.3.13. The phase 1 Pavilion Gardens project to undertake works required to the 
Octagon building is now partially complete.  The resultant revenue 
implications of borrowing for this scheme have consequently increased the 
subsidy required by the Council to operate the facility.  Therefore, a tender 
exercise for a concession contract has taken place to identify if the overall 
subsidy can be reduced if the facility was run by an external operator.  An 
external operator has now been awarded the concession contract – aiming for 
a handover date of 1st January 2019.  

4.3.14. Phase two works at Pavilion Gardens (as detailed in a report to the Executive 
on 21st July 2016) are now being considered for progression in liaison with the 
new Operator – in an attempt to coincide with internal works they are 
proposing as part of the concession contract.  A provision for these works is 
already included in the capital programme, however, the severity and urgency 
of the works required is now being reviewed to ascertain the timing (in liaison 
with the new Operator) and overall budget requirement 

4.3.15. The table below illustrates the capital investment requirements on the 
Council’s property portfolio and revenue consequences (cost of borrowing) 
over a 30 year period as reported in July 2016:-

HPBC - Capital Investment Required
2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP)

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years)
TOTAL

Public Buildings 8,450,983 6,188,951 14,639,934
Car Parks 120,000 3,754,462 3,874,462
Public Conveniences 123,400 949,300 1,072,700
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 671,360 1,230,000 1,901,360
Leisure Centres 45,000 6,825,129 6,870,129
Depots and Parks Buildings 144,700 1,301,785 1,446,485
TOTAL 9,555,443 20,249,627 29,805,070

Revenue Consequences 295,619 592,838 888,457

Page 30



4.3.16. The AMP and consequent financial implications were then updated within the 
Budget & MTFP in February 2016 and February 2017 to take account of any 
more up-to-date asset data and the forecast outturn positions.

4.3.17. For this iteration of the MTFP, the overall 30 year programme remains 
consistent with the programme reported when setting the Budget and MTFP in 
February 2018.  However, there has been some slight re-profiling of 
expenditure between financial years to take account of 2017/18 outturn/carry 
forwards and projections for 2018/19.

4.3.18. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 
February 2018, adjusted for 2017/18 actual outturn and any in-year re-profiling 
that has taken place in 2018/19- which increases the forecast capital spend by 
£239,611 over the 30 years from the original position.  

MTFP*
HPBC AMP Capital Investment 

& Revenue Consequence             
2018-19– 
2021-22  
(existing 
MTFP)

2022/23 
(new year 
MTFP)  £

TOTAL

 

2016-17 
(Actuals)

£

2017-18 
(Actuals) 

£

£

2023-24 – 
2045-46 

(23 years)
£

£
Public Buildings 339,450 2,124,080 5,208,980              -   5,901,048 13,573,558
Car Parks              -   87,080 123,930 502,530 3,130,933 3,844,473
Public Conveniences              -   4,970 222,610 188,100 633,600 1,049,280
Waterways/Infrastructure Assets 51,280 170,680 1,177,890 100,000 905,000 2,404,850
Leisure Centres 540 72,850 1,746,170 524,000 5,521,775 7,865,335
Depots and Parks Buildings              -   5,400              -   37,200 1,264,585 1,307,185

TOTAL 391,270 2,465,060 8,479,580 1,351,830 17,356,941 30,044,681

Revenue Consequences - 18,740 294,490 65,230 466,290 844,750
*The current MTFP capital programme costs of the AMP include approved carry forwards from 2017/18, projected spend in 
20187/18,revised estimates for 2018/19-2021/22& additional estimated costs of maintaining the asset portfolio in 2022/23

4.3.19. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA) Property 
Team have been commissioned to support the Council in producing an Asset 
Management Strategy to ensure the future delivery of efficient asset 
management.  Progress on this will be reported within the Budget and MTFP 
presented in February 2019.   

4.3.20. Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for 
example, reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or 
more efficient buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation with 
partners will be taken towards the efficiency programme.

Asset Management Plan (AMP) - Housing

4.3.21. The Executive agreed to complete a full condition survey on the Council’s 
portfolio of housing properties by March 2019.  The previous stock condition 
survey was undertaken in 2012 and was based on a 20% sample of 
properties.

Page 31



4.3.22. It was recognised that reliable and up-to-date stock condition data is critical for 
investment planning and consequently it was agreed to undertake a phased 
prioritised approach to assessing the condition of the stock to validate the data 
currently held.  This was based on property type and phased in the following 
way:
 Phase 1 – Non Traditional properties 
 Phase 2 – Sheltered Accommodation 
 Phase 3 – Large town concentrations of stock 
 Phase 4 – Rural Stock

4.3.23. The stock condition surveys have now been completed, validated and 
assessed.   A report was approved by Executive on 11th October 2018 which 
set out the stock condition process undertaken, results obtained and the 
financial consequences. 

4.3.24. The HRA four-year capital programme proposed within this update is based 
on the stock condition surveys results (straight-lined over the 30 years).  This 
is currently based on an ‘average’ annual amount, based on the total 
estimated spend requirements over the 30 years.  

4.3.25. The actual stock condition survey results suggested that a lower level of 
capital spend was required in the earlier years of the 30 year Business Plan.  
However, it is intended that there is an early focus on improving SAP energy 
ratings and a potential reprofiling of works – hence a ‘straight-lined’ capital 
allocation has been included at this stage.

4.3.26. From the work undertaken at this point, the stock condition results appear 
affordable with the 30-year HRA business plan.  However, an updated version 
of the 30 year HRA Business Plan, taking account of the stock condition 
results as well as other financial updates will be presented alongside the 
Budget and MTFP in February 2018 to demonstrate affordability.     

Buxton Crescent  

4.3.27. The Buxton Crescent Hotel and Thermal Spa construction stage is 
progressing.  The smaller contract to refurbish the Pump Room reached 
practical completion in June. 

4.3.28. The Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust already occupies the Pump Room under 
a licence agreement from the developers prior to being granted a full tenancy 
upon completion of the capital project. This early occupation allows the trust to 
run events in the building to raise funds and to fit out as the hub for the 
proposed visitor centre as well as the Tourist Information Centre (TIC) which 
will be relocated from the Pavilion Gardens. Current plans are for the TIC to 
open in February with the visitor centre opening later in the year.  
 

4.3.29. The main contract to convert the Crescent and the Natural Baths into the hotel 
and spa is progressing well with a programmed completion in Autumn 2019.

Page 32



4.3.30. A report was presented to The Executive on 11th October which outlined 
additional capital costs of the project – the Council has agreed a contribution 
of £25,000 plus due to the completion delay, additional project management 
costs of £66,560 will be incurred. 

4.3.31. In addition, the Council is currently considering the provision of a loan as part 
of the Crescent development subject to the terms set out in the Individual 
Executive Decision Report released on 24th October 2018 (confidential 
exempt information by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of schedule 12A 
to the Local Government act 1972) 

4.3.32. Funding arrangements are in place for the project, however, it remains 
necessary to identify the potential financial risks to the Council if the project 
failed to complete. The corresponding financial risks relate to mothballing 
costs and ongoing maintenance requirements of the building over a 5-year 
period (the estimated time to end the current project, procure a new partner, 
design and develop to the point of starting on site). Estimated costs are shown 
below:

Costs HPBC Liability
Cost over 5 years

£
Mothballing costs (security, insurance, utilities) 257,500
Maintenance Costs 1,600,000
TOTAL 1,857,500

4.3.33. The above costs are not included in the MTFP, but flagged as a risk. 

  Housing Grants  

4.3.34. The Borough Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 for the mandatory Disabled Facilities 
Grant and this status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All 
eligible applicants are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major 
adaptations to their properties. The funding for these adaptations has 
previously been given directly to the Council but from 2015/16, the funding 
was incorporated into the Better Care Fund (BCF) and paid to the County 
Council. 

4.3.35. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 
provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, 
social care services and clinical commissioning groups. 

4.3.36. The mechanism for the payment of funds from the fund holder to the Borough 
Council year on year is now governed through the BCF Commissioning 
Group, which makes the award based on the newly developed Assurance 
Plans submitted annually by each Council.  The Plans outline how the 
allocated budget will be spent; including any discretionary or innovative 
schemes agreed between the Councils and the County Council and identifies 
the monitoring programme. The Plan requires a quarterly progress update 
submission to the Commissioning Group, and these updates will inform the 
discussion around the subsequent year’s allocation. 

5.17

Page 33



4.3.37. Currently, demand for mandatory funding at High Peak exceeds the value of 
the funding awarded, so provided spend is in line with commitment through 
the year, it is unlikely that the funding will be reduced. At the current rate of 
approval, it is anticipated that the 2018/19 allocation will be fully committed in 
year. It may be, however, that High Peak will need to consider investing funds 
at a local level in future years, over and above the allocation for mandatory 
grants, should the level of demand continue to increase and if new 
discretionary or innovative schemes are to be funded.

ICT Strategy

4.3.38. The framework for the existing ICT Strategy was established in 2014/15.  The 
key drivers of which were to support delivery of the Efficiency and 
Rationalisation Plan, provide the infrastructure to support joint working, 
support new ways of working and improve access to services for our 
customers.  The Strategy is currently being reviewed and refreshed to take 
account of work undertaken to date and priorities going forward – progress 
made will feed into the next update of the MTFP.

4.3.39. The aim of the current Strategy is to reduce the number of applications and 
software and consequently pressure on server space. The capital provision for 
this project was reprofiled to account for the acceleration of the 
infrastratucture and Microsoft compliancy phase of the project resulting in 
higher than originally anticipated expenditure in 2016/17 and forecast spend in 
2017/18.  Therefore the annual capital budget post 2017/18 is minimal.  

4.3.40. Capital investment is required to establish the infrastructure required to meet 
the key drivers. This in turn will identify the revenue consequences of capital 
purchases – increased costs including maintenance, updates and annual 
licence purchases, offset by savings resulting from better usage and 
consolidation of the Council's suite of systems.

New Capital Schemes

4.3.41. Details and estimated costs of any new capital schemes which the Council is 
aiming to progress during the 4 year MTFP period will be included in the 
Budget and MTFP presented in February 2019. 

- Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme / Land Disposal Strategy (see          
4.2.41)

It is likely that there will be costs incurred associated in delivering the 
Council’s accelerated housing programme and land disposal strategy going 
forward.  However, these are to be assessed based on each scheme (and 
may be revenue costs rather than capital costs) therefore no provision is 
included in the capital programme at this stage.

Page 34



-   Third Party Loans 
The Council is currently considering the provision of a loan as part of the 
Buxton Crescent development (see 4.2.31).  
A request has also been made by the new Operator of the Pavilion Gardens 
concession contract for the Council to provide a loan to fund part of the 
internal works.  Due diligence is currently underway to assess any alternative 
options, loan terms required, security offered and consequent applicable 
interest rate based on risk.   

  Land Disposal Strategy 

4.3.42 A report was approved by Executive on 9th August 2018 which set out the 
Council’s Land Disposal Strategy.  The purpose of the report was to consider 
the outcomes from a review of the Council’s strategic land holdings and to 
agree a strategy for taking forward a programme of disposals.

4.3.43 The aim of which is to encourage development and generate capital receipts – 
benefiting the Council through revenue income growth and reduced 
borrowing.  

4.3.44 A forecast timeframe for the realisation of capital receipts was included in the 
report.  The Council is currently reviewing and updating this to provide the 
latest position for those land disposal sites where a capital receipt is 
anticipated within the next four years (i.e. the MTFP timeframe).  The updated 
capital receipts projections will then be included within the Budget and MTFP 
to be presented in February 2018.

 
  Funding the Capital Programme

4.3.45 The capital programme can be funded from a number of options which include 
external grants and contributions from third parties, comprising of Government 
and lottery funding streams; capital receipts from asset sales as part of the 
asset management plan and sale of council dwellings; earmarked revenue 
reserves and a planned annual contribution from the Housing Revenue 
Account to finance construction of and improvements to council dwellings.

4.3.46 Borrowing is undertaken to fund the shortfall after the other capital resources 
have been used. The current programme includes estimates of external 
funding of £2.3m towards General Fund projects; reserves of £1m; capital 
receipts of £4.68m (£1.91m General Fund + £2.77m 1-for-1 1RTB), plus 
£0.368m HRA capital receipts; Housing Revenue Reserves of £3.765m are 
forecast to be applied in 2018/19 and a further £17.131million of Housing 
Revenue Reserves over the following four years (subject to review – see 4.3). 

4.3.47. Borrowing is the main funding option for the General Fund programme at 
£10.354m.  The Treasury Management Strategy then considers whether this 
is funded externally or internally - both options have a consequence on 
revenue either through reduced investment income or increased external 
interest liability as highlighted in the table below.

Page 35



4.3.48. The capital receipts applied to the General Fund include the one-for-one right-
to-buy element used to fund capital expenditure on new housing properties.  
Under Government guidelines, these receipts can only represent 30% of 
overall expenditure, with a further 70% being required to be allocated.  The 
current strategy is to fund this via a third party, i.e. a social housing landlord 
or developer, with the third party organisation providing the additional 70% 
expenditure.

4.3.49. The HRA can also apply capital receipts which are not subject to the same 
restrictions as the one for one receipts to the overall capital programme.  
Therefore these un-ring-fenced receipts have been applied to the overall HRA 
capital programme as a source of funding.  There remains a balance held on 
un-ring-fenced capital receipts which can be applied to future spending. This 
will be reviewed as part of the HRA Business Plan update.   

4.3.50. There remains a balance of £100,000 within the general fund earmarked 
reserve established specifically to fund capital projects.  It is proposed to use 
this fund where an options appraisal on the acquisition of vehicles, plant and 
equipment has been carried out and suggests that the most financially viable 
option is to outright purchase.  Similarly, an increase in the contribution to 
capital is proposed where it is best value to do so for the HRA.

  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme

4.3.51. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows:

Revenue Consequences 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £
Borrowing Costs 287,500 340,340 285,350 330,070
Other (Income)/Expenditure
General Fund 287,500 340,340 285,350 330,070

HRA contribution to Capital 471,880 61,000 - -
Borrowing Costs - - - -
Housing Revenue Account 471,880 61,000 - -

4.4. Housing Revenue Account review  

 Background

4.4.1.  In 2014, the Council made a commitment in its Corporate Plan to undertake a      
fundamental review of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) business plan. 

4.4.2. In 2015, government announced far reaching legislative and financial changes 
for the social housing sector, which have had significant implications for the 
Council and in particular a negative financial impact on the HRA. The financial 
impact of these changes, the most significant being the 1% rent reduction 
imposed over 4 financial years, is approximately £2.2 million by 2020/21.

Page 36



  HRA Business Plan Sub-Committee

4.4.3. The development of the business plan is being undertaken through a sub-
committee established by the Corporate Select Committee. The work 
commenced in June 2016 and is expected to result in an updated sustainable 
business plan in preparation for the February 2019 Budget and MTFP update.

4.4.4. Given the significance of the financial position there has been an early focus 
on areas where reductions in financial provisions in the HRA can be made or 
additional income can be generated in order to ensure that the longer term 
financial position can be brought into balance.

Financial Position

4.4.5. The MTFP summarises the latest financial forecasts and provides a detailed 
summary of the financial position from 2019/20 to 2022/23. 

4.4.6. The original forecast 4-year deficit upon the announcement of the social 
sector rent reduction was some £2.2 million, which had been reduced to 
£770,430 (taking into account savings already achieved) by the end of 
2020/21 as part of the MTFP presented in February 2017. 

4.4.7. The HRA Financial Improvement Plan - which was presented alongside the 
MTFP in February 2017 – identified a further £1.2m in savings to be achieved 
over a four year period (see Annex B).  The anticipated timing of the 
realisation of savings and further detail are shown within section 4.4.

4.4.8. Building in the £1.2 million savings plan, the HRA was now showing a surplus 
position by 2021/22.  However, this assumed a continuation of a reduced 
annual capital programme of £3.9million.

4.4.9. The current 30-year HRA business plan is based upon capital expenditure that 
is derived from the previous stock condition information.  The plan also 
currently makes provision to repay outstanding debt at £1million per annum 
from 2018/19 (a reduction from the current £1.2million per annum as proposed 
in the HRA working group report presented in January 2018)    

4.4.10. However, the stock condition surveys have now been completed and therefore 
the 30 year capital programme estimated requirements are now understood.  
The capital programme in this iteration of the MTFP has been updated to 
reflect the revised figures.  

4.4.11. The updated position now shows an estimated surplus of £365,580 by the end 
of 2022/23.

4.4.12. The 30 year business plan will also be updated with the inclusion of 
information coming out of the stock condition surveys along with other 
updated financial information.  This will then be presented alongside the 
February 2019 Budget and MTFP.

Page 37



4.5. Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme 

General Fund Efficiency Programme

4.5.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by 
Members in February 2017, which identified a programme of £2.1 million 
(including £431,200 in unachieved efficiencies from the previous efficiency 
programme) in savings to be made over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21.  

4.5.2. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy has the effect of both reducing 
expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of 
a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing i.e. not 
reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support grant. 

4.5.3. The strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable 
the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.

4.5.4. It is intended that there will be five areas of focus:-
 Major Procurements - There is the opportunity to focus attention on a 

number of large service functions which are currently provided by an 
external contractor / supplier. A number of significant contracts are coming 
to an end. This will also allow a fundamental review of these services with 
proper consideration of the current financial constraints.  The contract 
commitments have sometimes restricted the opportunity to align services 
across the alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands.  The individual projects 
will focus on Waste Collection & Environment Services, Leisure 
Management and Facilities Management

 Asset Management Plan – continuation of the existing priority of 
rationalising the Council’s asset base with a focus around priorities in order 
to allow for the necessary capital investment

 Growth – development of a clear focus upon housing and economic 
growth based upon the established Local Plan. 

 Income Generation – focus on increasing the yield from existing sources 
on income and a drive towards identifying new sources of income

 Rationalisation – a commitment to reducing expenditure on non-priority 
areas of spend e.g. management arrangements, channel shift, non-
statutory services 

4.5.5. The below table summarises the financial savings requirements and profile for 
achievement (ANNEX B provides more detail of the savings plan):-

General Fund Efficiency 
Strategy

ACHIEVED 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £
Major Procurements 100,000 275,000 100,000 500,000 975,000
Asset Management - 30,000 200,000 - 230,000
Growth - 40,000 40,000 190,000 270,000
Income Generation 90,000 190,000 70,000 120,000 470,000
Rationalisation 120,000 46,000 20,000 - 186,000
TOTAL 310,000 581,000 430,000 810,000 2,131,000

Page 38



4.5.6. The £310,000 2017/18 target was achieved, and to date savings of £345,650 
have been realised against the 2018/19 efficiency target.  At this stage, it is 
estimated that there will be a potential shortfall of approximately £100,000 
anticipated against the 2018/19 efficiency target (as per the Quarter 2 
Financial Report)

4.5.7. An exercise reviewing the revenue underspends of the last 3 years has taken 
place. The review identified areas, which have consistently underspent 
against the base budget, and as such the excess provision has been removed 
and used to support the Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy.  The 
underspends are in part due to the impact of projects whereby procurement, 
IT, print and postage and other miscellaneous spend has been reduced over 
time.

4.5.8. However, continued progression against the efficiency programme is 
dependent on achieving significant savings as a result of the alternative 
delivery model for Waste, Streets and Parks via the transfer of services to 
trading company Alliance Environment Services, as well as a review of leisure 
provision.  There are also significant income generation targets focusing on 
housing and economic growth as a result of implementing the Local Plan.

  HRA Efficiency Programme 

4.5.9. When setting the budget in February 2017, the HRA was in a deficit position of 
£770,430 by the end of 2020/21 due to the consequences of the four year 1% 
rent reduction. 

4.5.10. Therefore, a HRA Financial Improvement Plan was approved as part of the 
MTFP which identified potential savings from a number of sources to be 
achieved over the period 2017/18 – 2020/21.

4.5.11. A HRA Review Progress report was presented to the HRA working group in 
April 2017 which further developed and provided more detail on the savings 
programme and likely profiling for the realisation of savings:-        

Potential
Annual Reduction

HRA Review Focus Savings Description

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Initial reduction in voluntary repayment of debt 
(currently £1.25 million per annum) – to be 
benchmarked – maximum annual reduction

250,000
Capital Financing

*Further reduction dependent on stock 
condition survey information – i.e. if an increase 
in capital expenditure is required, reduction in 
MRP could offset

*potential 
further 

reduction

New tenancies – commence at higher of ‘social 
rent rate or ‘assumed rent rate’ (less 1% during 
rent reduction period) plus any service charges 
where calculated

30,000 30,000 30,000
Rental Income – 
introduction of new 
rent policy

Review of services charges – ensuring full cost 
is rechargeable by accurately recording costs 
associated with specific properties/reducing 
costs of services provided  
De-pooling basic rent and service charges

5,000 5,000

Page 39



4.5.12. Savings against the 2017/18 target of £625,000 were realised. 

4.5.13. In addition, a report was presented to the HRA working group which proposed 
a reduction to the annual voluntary minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
payment of £1.25million – which is set aside to repay debt.  A reduction of 
£245,000 was proposed on a temporary 4 year basis to support with the 
realisation of the Financial Improvement Plan.  This included an option to 
apply additional MRP if an in year surplus was achieved.

4.5.14. Therefore, by applying the £245,000 reduction to annual MRP, this achieves 
the 2018/19 and 2019/20 efficiency targets.  Therefore the Financial 
Improvement Plan was re-profiled in February 2018 on this basis:-
         

Review of leasehold management 
arrangements (service charges) – to ensure we 
reflect the cost of providing services in the 
charging process and/or to highlight where 
costs are high and the service provided 
requires review

10,000 10,000

Other, for example: 
- annual rent amendments carried out in-

house removing of consultant
- review of payment methods
- maximising garage rental income
- Repairs recharges – ensuring all 

rechargeable repairs are billed correctly

15,000 15000

Staffing structures – 
service review 
process

Post service review completion, removal of 
vacancies where responsibilities are now 
covered by joint service arrangements  

200,000

Productivity improvements (review of processes  
internally) increased on-contract expenditure, 
capturing back office savings post service 
review

85,000 50,000
Repairs and 
Maintenance – overall 
reduction in 
expenditure  

Implementation of an alternative service 
delivery model and / or further improvements in 
productivity and procurement savnigs

150,000

ICT Costs – reduction 
in costs 

Streamlining of systems, saving annual 
license/software fees, removing duplication and 
releasing Officer time.  Focus on using the 
remaining systems more effectively. 

25,000 25,000

Increased income from improvements in voids 
turn around times and review of tenancy 
commencements

20,000 20,000
Voids review

Reduction in expenditure from a review of voids 
maintenance works carried out 30,000 30,000

Tenancy 
Arrangements

Review of tenancy and neighbourhood 
management processes 15,000

Stock Condition 
surveys

Disposal of surplus stock after consideration of 
net present value assessment following 
completion of stock condition survey

150,000

Total Annual Saving 625,000 185,000 60,000 330,000

Potential
Annual Reduction

HRA Review Focus

ACHIEVED 
2017/18

ACHIEVED 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Total Annual Saving 625,000 245,000 - 330,000

Page 40



4.5.15. By including the four-year HRA Financial Improvement Plan targets as above 
and updating the capital programme based on the stock condition survey 
information, this results in a £365,580 surplus position by the end of 2022/23. 

4.5.16. As discussed, an updated version of the 30 year HRA Business Plan will be 
presented in February 2019.

4.6. Member Priority Projects   

4.6.1. During the development of the Corporate Plan a number of priority actions 
have been identified and prioritised by members. These are as follows: 

Financial Implications

Member Priority Projects (y/n) Firm - in 
plans

Costs 
understood - 
not in plans

Costs not 
known

Leader  
Review and improve our relationships with Strategic Partners N
Continue to influence the provision of accessible health and 
social care services through the Council’s Scrutiny work 
programme
Parks, Leisure & Recycling 
Establish a developer open space contributions plan Y 

Work with ANSA and Cheshire East to launch Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd, our new joint venture company, to 
deliver waste, streets and grounds maintenance services on 
behalf of the Council in order to achieve improved performance 
and value for money outcomes

Y 

Implement the Council’s new sport and physical activity strategy 
and carry out research into nil cost facility provision being 
achieved by other councils; in order to achieve improved health 
and value for money outcomes for the High Peak 

N

Finance & Corporate Services  
Benchmark and review the Council’s approach to customer 
complaints as part of the introduction of a new automated 
management system for complaint handling and reporting

N

Deliver the Channel Shift Programme Y 

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / 
low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money 
improvements for Housing Benefit processing Y 

Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative 
ways of generating income Y 

Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure adequate facilities 
management arrangements are in place Y 

Undertake a review of the current CCTV system to look at its 
cost-effectiveness in preparation for the expiry of the 
maintenance contract in early 2018

Y 

Page 41



Tourism, Regeneration & Licensing  
Market test the commercial operation of the Pavilion Gardens, 
including a review of the Tourist Information Centre and Tourism 
Service Y 

Together with partners work for the delivery of the Crescent 
development Y 

Support the development of Glossop Halls Y 

Support the development of Torr Vale Mill Y 

Undertake detailed process benchmarking with high performing / 
low cost councils with a view to identifying value for money 
improvements for planning application processing

Y 

Implement the accelerated business growth and employment 
programme

Y 

Housing  
Complete and implement a Housing Management and Revenue 
Plan Y 

Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme Y 

4.6.2. Any costs or revenue associated with these actions will need to be included in 
the MTFP. The impact of a number of them is already included in this iteration 
of the plan but additional work will need to be undertaken to develop a number 
of the actions further and at the same time identify any financial implications.

4.7  Alliance Environment Service (AES)

4.7.1 Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is a company created with a vision to 
deliver waste, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services in the High 
Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands areas. The company has three 
shareholders: High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council and Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East 
Council. 

4.7.2 Phase 1 of the transfer of services commenced on 7th August 2017 to deliver 
High Peak Borough Council Waste services. This followed the end of the 
previous contract with Veolia Environmental Services.

4.7.3 Phase 2 of the transfer of services commenced on 1st July 2018 with the 
transfer of all fleet management.  Phase 3 is due to commence in early 2019, 
which will involve the transfer of Street Scene and Grounds Maintenance. 

4.7.4 Savings of £500,000 are forecast in the Efficiency & Rationalisation 
Programme by the end of 2020/21 – which are split between AES and savings 
to be achieved from Council retained budgets.  £64,000 was achieved in 
savings in 2017/18.

Page 42



4.7.5 The contract fee for 2019/20 is currently being discussed by the Council and 
AES, which will include the base 2018/19 contract fee plus 2019/20 
inflation/growth items less savings achieved.  Discussions will also focus on a 
review of the risk items (which the Council is currently paying an additional 
fee) primarily relating to the cost of short-term vehicle hire prior to 
procurement.

4.7.6.  At this stage £82,960 has been included in the MTFP in 2019/20 for AES 
inflation/growth items.

5.        FINANCIAL FORECASTS

5.1. Interest Rates

5.1.1. The Bank of England Base Rate was increased from 0.50% to 0.75% at the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting on 2nd August 2018. The MPC 
emphasised again that any future bank rate increases would be gradual.

5.1.2. Some market expectations are for a further increase in February 2019, but the 
Council’s advisors, Link Asset Services, are of the opinion that this is unlikely 
ahead of the deadline in March 2019 for Brexit and have therefore not 
changed their forecast of the next increase taking place in September 2019. 
Indeed the progress and outcome of Brexit continues to make forecasting of 
interest rates extremely difficult both in terms of bank rate and PWLB 
borrowing rates.

5.1.3. Based on the current forecasts, and the refinancing assumptions, changes in 
investment income and borrowing costs are highlighted below:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23

£ £ £ £
General Fund
Changes in Investment Income (41,360) (42,800) (110,990) 4,390
Changes in Borrowing Costs (120,430) (167,870) (277,520) (345,680)

HRA
Changes in Investment Income (56,610) (54,870) (18,430) 12,690
Changes in Borrowing Costs (7,500) 340 14,130 (62,310)

5.2. Inflationary Projections

5.2.1. The Retail Price Index (RPI) and Consumer Price Index (CPI) 12 month rate, 
as at September 2018, stood at 3.27% and 2.56% respectively.  Inflation 
forecasts are made reflecting the composition of the Council’s expenditure, 
resulting in an inflation rate specific to the Council.

Page 43



5.2.2. The MTFP presented to members in February 2018 was premised on inflation 
assumptions at the time. Those assumptions have now been rolled forward a 
further 12 months to incorporate the 202/23 financial year and have been 
updated to reflect the latest available information on trends in Council 
expenditure.  Employee inflation for 2019/20 is in line with the 2 year pay deal 
agreed in December 2017; thereafter provision has been made for a 2% pay 
award as well as annual increment costs and pension changes. The full costs 
to the Council arising from inflation are forecast in the table below.

     Inflationary Changes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23
     
 £ £ £ £

Employee Costs 341,600 272,500 269,150 260,250
Premises Costs 134,410 106,160 103,690 99,220
Transport 12,090 10,430 11,430 11,760
Supplies and Services 192,030 175,220 167,130 168,590
In-Year Inflation Pressure 680,130 564,310 551,400 539,820
     General Fund 464,690 375,930 374,890 382,390
Housing Revenue Account 215,440 188,380 176,510 157,430

5.3.  Budgetary Demand 

5.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2018 
analysed and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been 
revised to reflect known increases and decreases in budgetary demand.

5.3.2. The current known changes in budgetary demand are highlighted below:- 
Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

 £ £ £ £
HRA pension past service deficit costs (24,400) (25,400) (20,000) (21,000)
Uniforms – Customer Services (cyclical) (2,500) 2,500 (2,500) 2,500
Pavilion Gardens – Octagon closure (59,000) - - -
DWP – HB administration grant reduction 24,000 - - -
Local Council Tax Support administration grant 4,000 - - -
End of WW1 commemorations (11,000) - - -
NDR – Transitional rate relief removal 31,000 - - -
War Memorial repair – Whaley Bridge 50,000 (50,000) - -
Depot rent review – Waterswallows 10,000 - - -
Vacated buildings – Residual costs 16,500 (16,500) - -
Car park re-lining 10,700 10,500 - -
AES – fuel price base growth 12,500 - - -
 Total – General Fund 61,800 (78,900) (22,500) (18,500)

HRA - Radon remediation works (100,000) - - -
HRA – Asbestos surveys and works (104,000) - - -
HRA – Radon system costs (21,000) - - -
HRA – Smoke detectors (64,000) - - -
HRA – Loft insulation (338,000) - - -
HRA – Reduced administration costs (69,730)

Total – Housing Revenue Account (696,730) - 0 0
  

5.24

Page 44



5.4.  Budget Growth  

5.4.1. In previous years, few additions in respect of budget growth have been 
included in the MTFP. It was assumed in light of the financial pressures faced 
by the Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be 
financed by internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it 
is necessary to include budget growth to meet spending commitments.

5.4.2. No items of budget growth have been included in this version of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.

5.5. Pensions  

5.5.1. The last triennial actuarial valuation of the Derbyshire Pension Fund took 
place in 2016. At this valuation, the High Peak portion of the Fund was in 
deficit by £22.1 million and was 76% funded.

5.5.2. The 2016 valuation determined the level of contributions necessary for the 
following 3 year period (2017 – 2020). The Council was required to make a 
primary contribution equivalent to 12.4% of pensionable pay plus a payment of 
£1,779,000 per annum, in secondary contributions, to meet the Fund’s past 
service deficit.

5.5.3. A further valuation of the Fund is scheduled to take place in 2019. This will set 
employer contribution rates payable between 2020/21 and 2022/23 (years 2-4 
of this plan). As well as  national factors; such as investment returns, inflation 
factors, demographics etc; this valuation will also take into account the impact 
on pensions of local changes in the Council’s service delivery model in 
respect of environmental services and Pavilion Gardens. These local factors 
are likely to have an upward pressure on primary contribution rates as overall 
numbers in the Fund reduce. 

5.5.4. At this stage it has been assumed that the contributions arising out of this 
valuation will remain unaltered from the current levels mentioned in 5.5.2 
above. This working assumption will be monitored as details of the 2019 
valuation emerge over the next 12 months.

5.5.5. The outcome of the 2019 valuation is expected in December 2019.

5.6. Housing Revenue Account – Other Operating Expenditure

5.6.1. There are a number of items that relate only to the HRA. They include some 
direct elements of income and expenditure as well as notional charges for 
asset depreciation and debt impairment.

5.6.2. The HRA provides for a number of changes to operating expenditure over the 
next four year as set out in the table below:

Page 45



   
Expenditure / (Income) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23

    
 £ £ £

Provision for Irrecoverable Debts 940 90 2,830 2,890
Charges for Depreciation - - - -
HRA Voluntary MRP Contribution - - - -
Past Service Pension Deficit Contribution 23,400 24,400 20,000 21,000
 
Increased / (Reduced) Other Operating 
Expenditure 24,340 24,490 22,830 23,890
   

6.       FUNDING & INCOME GENERATION

6.1. Council Tax    

6.1.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition 
of capping.  However the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more 
than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. This threshold was 
increased to 2.99% for 2018/19 in order to better reflect CPI. Recent 
Government consultation suggests this threshold will also apply in 2019/20.

6.1.2. This iteration of the MTFP assumes that a 2.9% Council Tax increase will be 
implemented in 2019/20 reverting to 1.9% in each of the following three years 
of the MTFP.

6.1.3. Provision for tax base growth remains unchanged from the levels assumed in 
February. A provisional figure has been included for Year 4.  Further work will 
be carried out in the course of the next few months to recalculate likely 
changes in the tax base. Updated figures will be included in the February 
iteration of the MTFP. The table below sets out the additional yield from 
Council Tax as currently assumed in the Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Increased Council Tax Income 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23

£ £ £ £
Revenue from increased Council Tax (163,270) (111,480 (115,050) (118,750)
Revenue from Tax Base growth (74,060) (76,440) (79,860) (80,000)

Total (237,330) (187,920) (194,910) (198,750)

6.2. Business Rates Retention

6.2.1. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system the Authority retains 40% of 
Business Rates less a tariff that is payable in to a pool of Derbyshire 
Authorities. This amount is then compared to a Funding Baseline and any 
amount in excess of this Baseline is subject to levy, or conversely if the 
amount of retained Business Rates is below this Baseline, the loss is capped 
by a safety net payment. The MTFP does not anticipate the Council falling 
below the Baseline.

Page 46



6.2.2. As part of the Derbyshire Pool in the 50% retention scheme, the levy is made 
to the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Derbyshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a 
levy, effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates 
growth. However, as part of the Pool, the Council is able to retain some of this 
levy. Under the Pool agreement, this amount will depend on the amount all 
members of the Pool pay in at the end of the year, and the proportional 
success of the Council against its own baseline.

6.2.3. The benefit to the Council of being part of the Pool arrangement is estimated 
to be approximately £200,000 in 2019/20 for this element of the retention 
arrangements.

6.2.4. In October 2015, the Government announced a forthcoming package of 
reforms to the Business Rates Retention System including a move to local 
government retaining 100% of the rates that they received (subsequently 
being revised to a 75% scheme) with an end to RSG.

6.2.5. It was announced in December 2017 that Derbyshire was successful in its 
application for all authorities in the area to be a pilot for the 100% Business 
Rates Retention scheme. The pilot is only applicable to 2018/19. 

6.2.6. Derbyshire has submitted its application to be a pilot area for the 2019/20 75% 
scheme released by MHCLG; the outcome of this application will be 
announced in the December settlement. Therefore the potential financial 
impact is not included in this MTFP, the assumption being that the Council will 
return to the 50% pool scheme.

6.2.7. The MTFP anticipates that Business Rates retention will be above the 
baseline. Net NDR income is somewhat suppressed due to the award of 
reliefs including increased small business rate relief including the changes in 
thresholds, multiplier cap, supporting small businesses and local discretionary 
relief; and the increase in the provision for RV reductions on successful 
appeals. 

6.2.8. To compensate for the loss of business rates income resulting from the reliefs, 
funding has to date been made available to Councils under Section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The MTFP assumes both the extension of reliefs 
and Section 31 grants will continue. 

6.2.9. Changes in the level of the Council’s business rates will be impacted by a 
range of factors, including business growth in the area. At this stage, predicted 
levels of business rates income are based on known and expected changes to 
the business rates listing. 

Page 47



Business Rates Retention 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £
In year:
      Baseline Funding (2,328,080) (2,379,720) (2,432,500) (2,486,450)
      Achievement against Baseline 819,440 769,460 123,090 114,580
      Section 31 Grant (1,870,350) (1,861,850) (1,263,190) (1,289,260)

(3,378,990) (3,472,110) (3,572,600) (3,661,130)
Change between years:
      Business Rates retained 718,540 (101,620) (699,150) (62,460)
      Section 31 Grant (606,060) 8,500 598,660 (26,070)

112,480 (93,120) (100,490) (88,530)

6.3. Collection Fund    

6.3.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax 
and Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any 
surplus or deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in 
subsequent years.

6.3.2. The Collection Fund assumptions regarding Council Tax remain unaltered 
from the previous version of the MTFP presented in February 2018. Further 
work will be carried out over the next few months to update these 
assumptions. Revised figures will be included in the February 2019 MTFP. At 
this stage it is expected that the High Peak’s share of a surplus, in respect of 
Council Tax, will be £34,280 in 2019/20.

6.3.3. It is assumed that a surplus, after providing for appeals, of £663,550 will be 
distributed in 2019/20 in respect of retained Business Rates generated in the 
current and previous years. High Peak’s share of this surplus will be 
£331,780. It is assumed the Business Rates element of the collection fund will 
break even in future years, leaving no surplus or deficit for distribution.

6.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below:

Changes in Collection Fund Income 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £
Council Tax (3,910) (8,260) (2,490) -
Business Rates (1,399,210) 331,770 - -

Total (1,403,120) 323,510 (2,490) -

Page 48



6.4. Income from Government Grants

  Revenue Support Grant  
 
6.4.1. In October 2015, Government announced the phasing out of Revenue 

Support Grant (RSG) by 2019/20.

6.4.2. However, in the February 2018 MTFP, the profile of RSG reduction was 
revised to take into account Derbyshire’s success in its bid for pilot status in 
respect of 100% retention of Business Rates. This brought forward the RSG 
reduction proposed for 2019/20 into 2018/19; meaning that the Council lost its 
remaining RSG funding (of £580,180) in 2018/19, a year earlier than 
previously planned. This loss was offset by a corresponding increase in the 
2018/19 NDR baseline funding, which allows the Council to retain more of the 
business rates collected.

  New Homes Bonus

6.4.3. New Homes Bonus (NHB) is aimed at encouraging local authorities to grant 
planning permission for the building of new houses, in return for additional 
revenue.

6.4.4. The bonus is paid on the increase in occupied homes in the Borough 
compared with the previous year. This payment is subject to certain 
conditions:
 The bonus is only paid on development in excess of a national 

‘deadweight’ threshold (currently 0.4% of the tax base). This threshold 
represents the percentage of housing that would have been built anyway. 
For High Peak, the current threshold is the equivalent of 165 properties. 
The Government has indicated that it intends to raise the threshold in 
2019/20, but has not announced by how much. Clarification is expected in 
the settlement announcement in December. This will reduce the value of 
future New Homes Bonus receipts.

 Once awarded New Homes Bonus is currently paid for the following 4 
years.

6.4.5. Further changes, originally proposed in the 2016 consultation, have been put 
on hold to be considered for future implementation. These include:
 Withholding the Bonus from areas where an authority does not have a 

Local Plan in place; and
 Abating the Bonus in circumstances where planning permission for a new 

development has only been granted on appeal.

The settlement announcement in December 2018 will confirm whether these 
measures will be implemented in 2019/20.

Page 49



6.4.6. This iteration of the MTFP anticipates New Home Bonus receipts of 
£2.4million over the next 4 years However; these amounts assume no 
detrimental increase in the Government’s (0.4%) ‘deadweight’ threshold. A 
change in the threshold to 0.5% would reduce this by £600,000 over the life of 
the Plan.

6.4.7. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme anticipates £120,000 in 
additional New Homes Bonus over the next 4 years, arising out of stimulated 
housing growth. The current plan reflects the realisation of this over the next 4 
years. Any change to the deadweight’ threshold, referred to in 6.4.4 above, 
would detrimentally affect this position. 

6.4.8. The Council’s commitment to encouraging the building of new homes also has 
the knock-on effect of generating additional revenue from an increase in the 
council tax base.  These additional properties may, however, lead to 
increased service costs.

  Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

6.4.9. The Council operates a scheme whereby funding received from central 
Government in respect of Local Council Tax Support is passed onto the 
parishes by means of an annual grant. The allocation of this grant is based on 
the eligibility of parish residents for council tax discounts. 

6.4.10. The level of resources made available for this grant has remained constant in 
spite of reductions in overall Government funding. The MTFP assumes that 
this approach will continue at a cost to the Council of £51,320 pa

  Summary of Income from Government Grants

6.4.11. The table below summarises the assumed level of and movement in 
Government funding: 

Government Grant
(gain) / loss of 

funding
2016/17 

(baseline)
2017-2019 

(actual)
PYs

2019/20 
(forecast)

Yr1

2020/21 
(forecast)

Yr2

2021/22 
(forecast)

Yr3

2022/23 
(forecast)

Yr4

 £ £ £ £ £ £
Revenue Support 
Grant

(1,124,580) 1,124,580 - - - -

New Homes Bonus (773,320) 241,510 27,020 (111,630) (30,340) 13,540

Change in Govt 
Funding 

(1,897,900) 1,366,090 27,020 (111,630) (30,340) 13,540

6.4.12. The changes shown in the table above mean that the Government grant 
funding received by the Council will have reduced to £633,220 by 2022/23 
compared to the £1,897,900 received in 2016/17.

Page 50



6.5.  Fees and Charges

  General Fees and Charges

6.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities.  The Council’s 
Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of 
fees and charges:  
 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income
 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes
 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the 

development of Council services in accordance with priorities
 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually

6.5.2. The annual revision of the Council’s fees and charges will take place over the 
next few months, the outcome of which will be reported in February.

6.5.3. The Medium Term Financial Plan currently projects that the Council will 
increase fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  
However, it is also recognised that certain income streams (such as car 
parking, planning receipts) may not increase each year and that other income 
streams (such as grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic 
review.

6.5.4. An underlying annual increase in Fees and Charges income of £55,000 has 
been included in this iteration of the MTFP. In addition to this £25,000 has 
been included in 2019/20 and £10,000 in 2020/21 to reflect the anticipated 
growth in planning income arising out of increased activity.

6.5.5. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 
summarised in the table below: 

Increased Fees and Changes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £
Revenue from increased Fees and Charges (55,000) (55,000) (55,000) (55,000)
Increase in statutory planning fees - - - -
Increase in planning income (activity led) (25,000) (10,000) - -
Total (80,000) (65,000) (55,000) (55,000)

  
  Housing Revenue Account – Rent Charges 

6.5.6. As detailed in section 4.3, the Government announced in July 2015 far 
reaching legislative and financial changes for the social housing sector, the 
most significant financially being the announcement to reduce by 1% per 
annum from April 2016 for 4 years.  

Page 51



6.5.7. The Government announced in October 2017 that after the four year 1% rent 
reduction ends in 2019/20, Authorities will then be able to increase rents from 
2020/21 by CPI +1%.

6.5.8. Therefore, the current HRA Plan projects an average rent decrease on 
dwellings 1.0% in 2019/20, with a 2% increase assumed from 2020/21.  It also 
assumes that ‘Other Charges’, including garages and service charges, will 
increase in 2019/20 – 2022/23.  

Reduced Rental Income 2019/20* 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£ £ £ £

Reduced revenue from Rental Income and 
Other Charges (99,080) (8,780) (283,280) (288,480)

*53 week rent year

6.5.9. As part of the HRA review, a revised rent policy was presented to the HRA 
working group during 2017/18, which aims to increase income targets (and 
partially offset the HRA Financial Improvement Plan savings targets).   

6.5.10. This included a review of current service charges to ascertain the cost to the 
Council in providing services.  The review revealed that the cost in providing 
services is higher than the service charge paid by tenants.  It was proposed 
therefore, to increase current service charges paid by current tenants by a 
maximum of 5% per annum – to limit the financial impact (this would be the 
equivalent of a maximum of £1.07p per week) up to the point the actual 
service charge matches the actual cost.      

6.5.11. It was also proposed that for new tenants, ‘formula’ rent is charged – which in 
most cases is slightly higher than current rent.  In addition, if any services are 
provided as part of the tenancy, the service charge will be based on the actual 
cost in providing the services.  The rent and service charge is fully advertised 
prior to a new tenant taking a tenancy. 

6.5.12. In September 2018, the Department of Works and Pensions rolled out its ‘full’ 
service in High Peak – meaning that all new claims from single people and 
families (of working age) of the six legacy benefits (including Housing Benefit) 
will be replaced by Universal Credit (UC).  

6.5.13. Due to the many changes (UC is paid direct to the tenant rather than the 
Landlord, there have been some issues with waiting times on receiving 
payment etc) this may have a potential negative impact on rent collection.  No 
reduction in rental income due to this has been included in this MTFP, but it is 
flagged as a risk at this stage and will be considered as part of the 30 year 
HRA Business Plan update. 

5.32

Page 52



7.        RISKS, CONTINGENCIES & USE OF RESERVES

7.1. Risks and Contingencies

7.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Medium 
Term Financial Planning process. Risks to the MTFP are assessed, mitigated 
and actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services 
effectively within the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium 
Term Financial Plan are summarised in ANNEX C.

7.1.2. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within 
this Medium Term Financial Plan: 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks
 Inflationary assumptions
 Interest rates
 Housing benefits
 Fees and charges
 Universal Credit
 Business Rates 
 Council Tax collection
 Housing Rent levels (HRA 

affordability)
 Government grants
 Financial benefits from partnerships 

/ shared services
 Pension costs
 Contract Management 

 Interest rates 
 External funding
 Capital receipts
 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme
 Project overspend
 Project overrun
 External factors (e.g. planning 

objections, judicial reviews etc. 
leading to project delay)

 Housing finance 
 Weather 

7.1.3. Britain’s Exit from the European Union 

At this stage it is impossible to predict the impact of the Brexit process on the 
Authority’s finances and financial planning.   It has the potential to influence a 
number of local and national economic drivers such as inflation, interest rates, 
the valuation of assets and liabilities and the demand for and funding of 
services.  Currently the timing and direction of Brexit’s influence on these 
areas is a matter of debate.  To give an idea of the potential financial 
consequences the table below quantifies the impact on the Authority’s current 
2018/19 budget had there been a 1% change in its key economic drivers

Risk item Impact on MTFP
1 % change in inflation 300,000
1 % change in interest rates 400,000

Page 53



7.2. Contingencies

7.2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 
These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available 
information. New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to 
alter its assumptions with a consequential effect on the Council’s financial 
position.

7.2.2. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on 
performance against the budget. The Council will carry adequate reserves as 
a contingency against risks that cannot be fully mitigated.

7.2.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks 
cannot be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the 
estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the 
budget provides.  The Council is currently required to hold a general 
(contingency) reserve of £1,330,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure. 

7.3.  Use of Reserves and Balances  

  General Fund Reserves and Balances

7.3.1. The February 2018 Medium Term Financial Plan included a £6,550 
contribution from General Fund Reserves in 2018/19 in respect of Section 106 
(Commuted Sum). The assumed level of Section 106 reserve usage remains 
at £6,550 throughout the life of this plan.

7.3.2. The February 2018 MTFP also included the use of General Fund contingency 
reserves in 2018/19 and 2019/20 to smooth timing differences in the delivery 
of the Efficiency Programme. The Plan then included an anticipated payment 
into reserves in both 2020/21 and 2021/22.

7.3.3. The Quarter Two report forecasts that there will be a surplus against budget of 
approximately £618,780, in which case, there will be a net contribution from 
reserves of £1,185,760 in 2018/19.  The improved reserve position at the end 
of 2018/19 arises out of additional Business Rates Retention receipts from the 
Derbyshire Pool and from central Government in the form of s31 grants

7.3.4. Financial assumptions have been updated as part of this plan, but at this 
stage, no movement to or from reserves have been included (apart from the 
planned £6,550 draw from the S106 reserve over the 4 years), so the plan 
remains unbalanced – this will be updated as part of the February 2019 MTFP 
update.  However, based on the deficit/surplus position (as per ANNEX D) the 
required use of reserves would be some £258,620 less than reported in 
February 2018:

Page 54



Reserve / Balance 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 TOTAL

 £ £ £ £ £ £
General Fund (use)/contribution to 
reserves – February 2018 (1,805,540) (650,770) 188,660 305,500 0 (1,962,150)

       
General Fund (use)/contribution to 
reserves – November 2018 (1,185,760) (479,390) (76,750) 31,150 7,220 (1,703,530)

       
Change in use of reserves 619,780 171,380 (265,410) (274,350) 7,220 258,620
       

  HRA Reserves and Balances

7.3.5. The HRA balance is made up of surpluses that have accumulated over a 
number of years.  The Council retains a minimum of £1 million (approximately 
£250 per property) in order to cover unexpected events that could - if realised 
– trigger financial pressures.

7.3.6. Due to the strict ring-fencing rules that apply to the HRA, any funds set aside 
form part of HRA reserves. The table below summarises the projected HRA 
reserves position for the duration of this MTFP.

 HRA Working Balance – this reserve is the excess of income after 
expenditure in any given year and is set aside to provide for capital 
expenditure demands in the future and to provide a contingency against 
unforeseen costs.

 Housing Reform / contingency reserve – this reserve was set aside to fund 
potential additional unforeseen costs of housing reform and self-financing. 

 Stock Condition Reserve – this reserve was set aside initially to fund the 
cost of providing a stock condition survey, and will therefore be 
redesignated as part of the closure of account process (it is proposed at 
this stage it is set aside for loft insulation works in 2019/20)

 Capital Investment Fund – this reserve is used to smooth the cost of 
borrowing required to fund any capital expenditure

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 £ £ £ £ £
HRA Reserves Brought Forward 11,344,043 11,515,962 11,517,082 11,637,642 11,846,442
Surplus/(Loss) for the year* 71,919 1,120 120,560 208,800 365,580
Transfers to / from reserves 100,000 - - - -
HRA Working Balance 11,515,962 11,517,082 11,637,642 11,846,442 12,212,022
Housing Reform / Contingency 
Reserves 457,560 457,560 457,560 457,560 457,560

Stock Condition Reserve 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000
Total Working Balance carried forward 12,273,522 12,274,642 12,395,202 12,604,002 12,969,582
Capital Investment Fund carried forward    944,872      944,872      944,872      944,872 944,872
Total HRA Reserves carried forward 13,218,394 13,219,514 13,340,074 13,548,874 13,914,454

7.3.7. It can be seen from the table above that the HRA balance is projected to 
exceed its £1 million contingency minimum over the next four years. 

Page 55



8. MTFP REVENUE POSITION  

8.1. General Fund Revenue Position

8.1.1. The medium term General Fund revenue position is as set out in the table 
below:

     
Summary Revenue Position 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23

     
 £ £ £ £

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 4.2) 287,500 340,340 285,350 330,070

Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) (41,360) (42,800) (110,990) 4,390

Borrowing Costs (section 5.1) (120,430) (167,870) (277,520) (345,680)

Inflation Pressures (section 5.2) 464,690 375,930 374,890 382,390

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 5.3) 61,800 (78,900) (22,500) (18,500)

Budget Growth (section 5.4) 0 0 0 0

Increased Council Tax Income (section 6.1) (237,330) (187,920) (194,910) (198,750)

Business Rates Retention (section 6.2) 112,480 (93,120) (100,490) (88,530)

Changes in Collection Fund (section 6.3) (1,403,120) 323,510 (2,490) -

Reduction in Government Grant (section 6.4) 27,020 (111,630) (30,340) 13,540

Additional Fees and Charges (section  6.5) (80,000) (65,000) (55,000) (55,000)

Contribution to Reserves & Balances (section 7) 1,804,540 0 0 0
 
In Year Change in Position 875,790 292,540 (134,000) 23,930

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 4.4) (430,000) (809,680) 0 0
Growth efficiencies realised 33,600 114,500 26,100 0
 
Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 479,390 (402,640) (107,900) 23,930
Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 479,390 76,750 (31,150) (7,220)

8.1.2. Annex D shows the projected General Fund revenue position in detail.

Page 56



8.2. Housing Revenue Account Revenue Position

8.2.1. The medium term Housing Revenue Account revenue position is as set out in 
the table below.

Summary Revenue Position 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022//23
 £ £ £ £

Budget (surplus) / deficit  brought forward 147,140 (1,120) (120,560) (208,800)

Revenue consequence of Capital spend (section 4.3) 471,880 61,000 - -

Interest Rate Changes (section 5.1) (56,610) (54,870) (18,430) 12,690

Borrowing Costs (section 5.1) (7,500) 340 14,130 (62,310)

Inflation Pressures (Section 5.2) 215,440 188,380 176,510 157,430

Increased / reduced budget demand  (section 5.3) (696,730) - - -

Increased / reduced budget growth  (section 5.4) - - - -

Increase in Other Operating Expenditure (section 
5.6)** 24,340 24,490 22,830 23,890

Reduction in Rent and Other Charges  (section 6.5) (99,080) (8,780) (283,280) (288,480)
 
In Year Change in Position (1,120) 209,440 (208,800) (365,580)

HRA Rationalisation Plan (section 4.4)** - (330,000) - -
Budget (Surplus) / Deficit (1,120) (120,560) (208,800) (365,580)

8.2.2. Annex D shows the projected Housing Revenue Account revenue position in 
detail.

9.        CONSULTATION

9.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders 
to help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-
priorities. A variety of techniques have been used and the approaches have 
been iterative, building year on year on what has gone before. The Council 
already holds comprehensive information gathered about residents’ spending 
priorities. Much of this information was gathered in times of rising expenditure. 
The financial challenges for the Council are now very different. 

9.2. The consultation process for 2019/20 will be undertaken via an online 
communication available on the Council’s website, which summarises the 
finanicial challenges and invites comment on the plan.   There will also be 
reference included within the December e-newsletter issued by Regeneration 
to local businesses which will include a brief narrative with links to on-line 
information.

Page 57



9.3. It will be particularly important that the Council, as it makes difficult budgetary 
decisions, is able to evidence that it has considered the impact of its decisions 
on groups with ‘protected characteristics’.

9.4. Going forward, the Council will be developing a timetable of consultation, 
which will focus on specific emerging issues that will potentially have a 
significant impact on the Council’s finances over the medium term.

Page 58



ANNEX A   
Proposed Capital Projections (2018/19 to 2022/23) – General Fund 

Capital Schemes 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Total
 £ £ £ £ £ £
Asset Management       
Public Buildings  1,945,130  3,105,820              -       158,030              -     5,208,980 
Car Parks         2,930              -                -       121,000     502,530      626,460 
Public Conveniences              -         95,010              -       127,600     188,100      410,710 
Waterways Infrastructure     269,930     411,600     405,000       91,360     100,000   1,277,890 
Leisure Centres     115,000              -                -    1,631,170     524,000   2,270,170 
Depots & Park Buildings              -                -                -                -         37,200       37,200 
 2,332,990 3,612,430 405,000 2,129,160 1,351,830 9,831,410
       
Growth Fund               -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -   
       
Affordable Housing               -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -   
       
Housing(RTB 1 for 1)     178,000     597,000     667,000     667,000     667,000   2,776,000 
       
Housing Grants 615,650 421,000 421,000 421,000     421,000 2,299,650
       
ICT 9,640 9,640 9,640         9,640              -   38,560
       
Other Schemes       
Play Facilities     100,000              -                -                -                -        100,000 
Country Parks              -                -                -                -                -                -   
Cemeteries       10,000     190,000              -                -                -        200,000 
Conservation/Heritage 45,000 45,000       45,000       45,000              -        180,000 
Market Town Regeneration 273,190              -                -                -                -        273,190 
Fleet Management 2,547,070              -                -                -                -     2,547,070 
Leisure Centres              -         90,000              -                -                -         90,000 
 2,975,260 325,000 45,000 45,000              -   3,390,260
       
Total Programme 6,111,540 4,965,070 1,547,640 3,271,800 2,439,830 18,335,880
Funding of Programme       
External Contributions 615,650 421,000 421,000 421,000     421,000 2,299,650
Section 106 Planning 
Obligations               -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -   
Capital Reserves/Receipts     986,480     887,000  1,126,640  1,527,360     767,000 5,294,480
General Fund Balances     387,710              -                -                -                -        387,710 
Borrowing 4,121,700 3,657,070 0 1,323,440  1,251,830 10,354,040
 6,111,540 4,965,070 1,547,640 3,271,800 2,439,830 18,335,880

Page 59



ANNEX A

Proposed Capital Projections (2018/19 to 2022/23) – Council Dwellings (HRA)  

Scheme
Budget 
2018/19

 Budget 
2019/20 

 Budget 
2020/21 

 Budget 
2021/22 

 Budget 
2022/23 Total

 £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £ 
ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS:      
Roofing & External Works 602,000 595,000 595,000 595,000 595,000 2,982,000
Kitchens 625,000 433,000 433,000 433,000 433,000 2,357,000
Bathrooms 150,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 1,454,000
Central Heating 379,000 633,000 633,000 633,000 633,000 2,911,000
Electrical Works  568,000 459,000 459,000 459,000 459,000 2,404,000
Health & Safety 100,000 - - - - 100,000
Aids & Adaptations 350,000 55,000 55,000 55,000 55,000 570,000
Sheltered Schemes Lightning 
Protection 40,000 - - - - 40,000
Unity Walk & Quarry Close Railing 30,000 - - - - 30,000
Cross Street Structural 50,000 - - - - 50,000
Commercial Boiler Renewal 127,000 - - - - 127,000
Corbar Road Roofing Works 35,000 - - - - 35,000
Scooter Stores 75,000 - - - - 75,000
Communal Rewires 220,000 - - - - 220,000
Major Voids (2) 118,000 - - - - 118,000
Works to Communal Areas - 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 600,000
Window Replacement Programme - 436,000 436,000 436,000 436,000 1,744,000
Door Replacement Programme - 257,000 257,000 257,000 257,000 1,028,000
External Works & Outbuildings - 362,000 362,000 362,000 362,000 1,448,000
Environmental & Other Works - 197,000 197,000 197,000 197,000 788,000
 3,469,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 3,903,000 19,081,000
REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS:      
Void Rewires  35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 175,000
Void Kitchens  200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,000,000
Void Bathrooms  60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 300,000
 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,475,000
STAFFING:      
Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning 
Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000
ASSET PURCHASES:
Vehicle Purchasing 208,480 - - - - 208,480

208,480 - - - - 208,480
      
TOTAL SPEND 4,072,480 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 4,298,000 21,264,480

Page 60



 ANNEX B

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (2017/18 – 2020/21)

Efficiency 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Major Procurements      
Waste Collection etc. 100 200 100 100 500
Leisure Centres - - - 400 400
Facilities Management - 75 - - 75
 100 275 100 500 975
Asset Management      
Asset Rationalisation - 30 200 - 230
 - 30 200 - 230
Growth      
Housing Growth - 40 40 40 120
Business Growth - - - 150 150
 - 40 40 190 270
Income Generation      
Fees & Charges - 120 - 120 240
Pavilion Gardens 40 60 70 - 170
Advertising / Sponsorship 50 10 - - 60
Enhanced Trading - - - - -
 90 190 70 120 470
Rationalisation      
Management Staffing 100 - - - 100
Channel Shift - - - - -
Parish Grants - 26 20 - 46
Service Rationalisation 20 20 - - 40
 120 46 20 - 186
      
TOTAL 310 581 430 810 2,131
      

HRA Financial Improvement Plan (2017/18 – 2021/22)

Budget Heading Savings
Potential
Annual 

Reduction
£

Capital Financing Reduction in voluntary repayment of debt (currently £1.2 
million per annum) – to be benchmarked – maximum 
annual reduction

500,000

Rent Income Introduction of new rent policy 150,000
Repairs and Maintenance Reduction in repairs and maintenance expenditure due 

to implementation of an alternative service delivery 
model and / or improvements in productivity

250,000

ICT Costs Reduction in costs of ICT systems 50,000
Rent Income / Repairs & 
Maintenance Expenditure

Savings from improvements in voids turn around times 100,000

Various headings Disposal of surplus stock after consideration of net 
present value assessment following completion of stock 
condition survey

150,000

Total Annual Saving 1,200,000

Page 61



ANNEX C

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Financial 
Implications

Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy

Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process

Financial 
Implications

Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income 

The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary

Service 
Continuity

Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards

Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals

Corporate 
Governance

Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability

Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will be reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy

Management of 
Change

Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities

Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development.

People Risks Impact of cultural changes;
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention;
capacity issues

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Key Projects & 
Partnerships

Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements

The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery
  

Page 62



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls

Performance 
Management

Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition

Risk management processes are 
embedded

Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks

Maintaining existing partner 
confidence

Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme

Programme 
Delivery

Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings

Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans. 

Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies. 

Executive Director (Transformation) 
appointed as programme director. 

Programme 
Delivery

A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved

Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting

The strategy is kept under constant review

Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups
  

Political Support Lack of Members support for 
Plan.

Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements

5.41

Page 63



ANNEX D

Proposed Revenue Projections (2019/20 to 2022/23) – General Fund  

Budget Heading
2019/20  

Projection
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22  

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
 £ £ £ £
Employees 12,302,950 12,575,450 12,844,600 13,104,850
Premises 4,522,920 4,623,080 4,726,770 4,825,990
Transport 641,740 652,170 663,600 675,360
Supplies & Services 9,475,570 9,603,290 9,767,920 9,939,010
Benefits            82,460          82,460          82,460         82,460
Borrowing 1,861,570 2,034,040 2,041,870 2,026,260
Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 51,320 51,320 51,320 51,320
Financing Costs 191,000 191,000 191,000 191,000
     
Total Expenditure 29,129,530 29,812,810 30,369,540 30,896,250
     

Fees and Charges / Other Income
     

(9,941,940)  (10,006,940)  (10,061,940) (10,116,940)

Interest Receipts 
        

(181,300)      (224,100)       (335,090)      (330,700)

HRA Recharges
     

(7,775,610)   (7,989,390)    (8,185,900)   (8,364,330)

Capital Recharges
        

(231,240)      (231,240)       (231,240)      (231,240)
     
Net Expenditure 10,999,440 11,361,140 11,555,370 11,853,040
     

Council Tax
     

(5,867,270)   (6,055,190)    (6,250,100)   (6,448,850)
Revenue Support Grant                    0                  0                  0                 0

Business Rates Retention
     

(3,378,990)   (3,472,110)    (3,572,600)   (3,661,130)

New Homes Bonus
        

(504,790)      (616,420)       (646,760)      (633,220)

Contribution to / (use of) Reserves
           

(6,550)          (6,550)          (6,550)         (6,550)

Collection Fund
        

(366,050)        (42,540)        (45,030)       (45,030)
     

Total Financing
   

(10,123,650)  (10,192,810)  (10,521,040) (10,794,780)
     

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
          

875,790     1,168,330      1,034,330     1,058,260
     

Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)
        

(430,000)   (1,239,680)    (1,239,680)   (1,239,680)
Growth Efficiency realised (cumulative)            33,600        148,100         174,200        174,200
     

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)
          

479,390          76,750        (31,150)         (7,220)
     

Page 64



ANNEX D

Proposed Revenue Projections (2019/20 to 2022/23) – Housing Revenue Account 

Budget Heading
2019/20  

Projection
2020/21  

Projection
2021/22

Projection
2022/23  

Projection
 £ £ £ £

Repairs & Maintenance 3,860,920 3,646,670 3,754,870 3,854,760
Supervision & Management 3,166,590 3,239,220 3,307,530 3,365,070
Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges 105,260 105,260 105,260 105,260
Other Operating Expenditure 736,450 760,940 783,770 807,660
Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030
Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,840,090 2,785,560 2,781,260 2,731,640
HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 2,137,970 2,198,970 2,198,970 2,198,970
    
Total Expenditure 14,946,310 14,835,650 15,030,690 15,162,390
 
Dwellings Rents (14,325,340) (14,334,190) (14,617,470) (14,905,950)
Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (622,090) (622,020) (622,020) (622,020)
 
Total Income (14,947,430) (14,956,210) (15,239,490) (15,527,970)
 
(Surplus) / Deficit for year (1,120) (120,560) (208,800) (365,580)

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Council 

12 December 2018

To approve the following recommendation of the Audit and Regulatory Committee:

a) Treasury Management Update:  Mid-Year Report 2018/19

RECOMMENDED:

That the treasury management position (as at 30th June 2018) be noted 
and that a loan to the Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust, subject to the 
terms contained within the Individual Executive Decision issued 24 
October 2018, be approved.

b) Appointment of Mayor 2019/20

RECOMMENDED:

That at its meeting on 12 December 2018 Council confirm that the 
Labour Group be invited to make a nomination for the appointment of 
Mayor of the Borough and Chairman of the Council for the municipal 
year 2019/20.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

TITLE: Recommendations from the Audit & 
Regulatory Committee – 25 October 2018

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark Trillo, Executive Director (People) & 
Monitoring Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: As detailed in the attached report

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Audit & Regulatory Committee

25 October 2018

TITLE: Treasury Management Update

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Thrane - Executive Councillor for 
Finance and Operational Services

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene – Finance & Performance 
Manager
Emily Bennetts – Finance Business Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Treasury Management Mid-Year Update 
Report, 30th September 2018

1. Reason for the Report

1.1. To allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury Management 
performance in 2018/19 in compliance with the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
and generally accepted good practice.

2. Recommendation

2.1. That Members note the current Treasury Management position (as at 30th 
September 2018).

3. Executive Summary

3.1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by the Council in March 2010. 
This Council fully complies with its requirements, one of which is to produce at 
least one mid-year operational report.

3.2. This report comprises the following:

 The latest interest rate forecast;

 Investment income earned to date and projected for 2018/19;

 The current investment portfolio;

 The borrowing portfolio with projected borrowing costs for 2018/19 and 
debt rescheduling options; and

Page 69

Agenda Item 7a



 Compliance against Prudential and Treasury indicators set in the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2018/19.

3.3. The main headlines include:

 The Bank of England base rate increased to 0.75% on 2nd August 2018.

 The investment income budget of £139,940 is expected to exceed its target 
by £5,000 following the earlier than forecast event of the base rate 
increase.

 A saving of £39,210 overall is forecast on the borrowing costs budget, split 
£11,340 to the general fund and £27,870 to the HRA, due to reduced MRP 
on the general fund and improved investment income for the HRA.

 The average return on investments achieved by the Council during the 
period to 1st July to 30th September was 0.68%. This compares favorably to 
short-term industry benchmarks.

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £20.6million spread across ten 
separate institutions as at 30th September 2018.

 The Council’s total level of debt as at 30th September was £71,825,404 at 
an average annual borrowing rate of 3.82%.  

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1. An effective Treasury Management function is critical in safeguarding and 
effectively managing the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. Sufficient 
financial resources are required to deliver and underpin all of the Council’s main 
priorities.

5. Alternative Options

5.1. This report sets out the Treasury Management position for High Peak Borough 
Council for 2018/19 to date and the projected outturn. As such it is a statement 
of fact and there are no options.

Andrew P Stokes
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

‘Treasury Management – 
Governance & Scrutiny 
Arrangements’ (Audit & Regulatory 
Committee September 2009)

‘Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2018/19’ (Audit & 
Regulatory Committee, February 
2018, revised at Council, May 2018)

Finance & Procurement
Town Hall, Buxton

Claire Hazeldene
Finance & Procurement Manager
claire.hazeldene@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Emily Bennetts
Finance Business Partner
Emily.Bennetts@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 70



Appendix A

Treasury Management Update 
30th September 2018

1. Introduction 

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

3. Investment Income

4. Investment Portfolio

5. Capital Programme Update & Borrowing Position

6. Prudential Indicators

7. HRA Debt Limits

High Peak Borough Council
Working for our community

Page 71



1. Introduction 

1.1. Treasury Management is defined as “The management of the Authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks”.

1.2. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management which recommends that Members should be briefed on 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year.

1.3. The Audit & Regulatory Committee has delegated responsibility for 
scrutinising the treasury function.  The Committee’s role includes approval 
of the annual treasury management strategy and scrutiny of operational 
treasury management reports.  Decisions taken by the Audit & Regulatory 
Committee are reported to full Council.

1.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2018/19 was 
approved by Council on 20th February 2018 and revised on 3rd May 2018 to 
incorporate changes to the capital programme. This report details treasury 
management performance up to the 30th September 2018 and projects 
forward for the remainder of the financial year.

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

2.1. The Council’s treasury advisers, Link Asset Services (‘Link’), provide the 
latest base rate and PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) forecast:

% Dec-
18

Mar-
19

Jun-
19

Sep-
19

Dec-
19

Mar-
20

Jun-
20

Sep-
20

Dec-
20

Mar-
21

Bank Rate 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50
5yr PWLB rate 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60
10r PWLB rate 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10

25yr PWLB rate 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.50
50yr PWLB rate 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30

2.2. Bank of England base rate increased to 0.75% at the Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) meeting on 2nd August 2018, an uplift of 0.25% from the 
previous rate of 0.50%. The MPC emphasised again that the future Bank 
Rate increases would be gradual.

2.3. Some market expectations are for a further increase in February 2019, but 
Link are of the opinion that this is unlikely ahead of the deadline in March 
2019 for Brexit and have therefore not changed their forecast of the next 
increase taking place in September 2019. Indeed the progress and outcome 
of Brexit continues to make forecasting of interest rates extremely difficult 
both in terms of bank rate and PWLB borrowing rates.

Page 72



3. Investment Income 

3.1. Interest earned on investment deposits up to 30th September 2018 totalled 
£60,150. The Council has budgeted to receive £139,940 in investment 
income in 2018/19. The budget was set with the potential for one rate rise of 
0.25% during 2018/19. As this has now taken place earlier than anticipated 
(originally forecast in November), interest income is expected be 
overachieved by £5,000.

3.2. Average interest rates achieved on the Council’s investments are shown in 
the table below; these compare favourably to the LIBID rates, the 
recognised industry benchmark rates:

Comparator Average 
Rate Q1

Average 
Rate Q2

HPBC Average 0.61% 0.68%
HPBC long-term fixed (>364 days) - -
HPBC short-term fixed (<364 days) 0.79% 0.86%
HPBC instant access 0.46% 0.53%
Benchmarks
*LIBID 7 day rate 0.36% 0.51%
*LIBID 3 month rate 0.55% 0.66%
*LIBID 6 month rate 0.67% 0.76%
*LIBID 12 month rate 0.84% 0.91%
Base Rate at the end of the period 0.50% 0.75%

*LIBID = London Inter Bank Bid Rate

3.3. The table below highlights the level of investment activity and the rates 
obtained in the period from 1st July to 30th September 2018.  Investments 
are made in line with Link’s creditworthiness guidance and the duration 
limits applied to each colour banding.

Institution Country of 
Domicile Amount Length Rate

Santander UK UK £3,700,000 95 day notice 1.00%

Instant Access Cash
(Instant Access Accounts & 
Money Market Funds)

UK £2,663,510
(daily average) 0.53%

3.4. The rates achieved by the Council vary by institution, by duration of 
investment and by the timing of when the investment was made. The 
Council’s lending criteria restricts the number of financial institutions that 
are eligible to be on the lending list, and the amount that can be invested 
with eligible counterparties (and counterparty groups) at any one time. 

Page 73



3.5. The majority of the investment portfolio is held on a short-term basis (<1 
year). The Council continues to utilise same day access business accounts, 
money market funds, fixed term deposits and certificates of deposits (via 
the use of custodian King & Shaxson) which offer competitive rates and 
access to banks that would not necessarily deal direct with the Authority for 
the sums invested.

3.6. Money Market Fund reforms in Europe have been ongoing for a number of 
years and the sector is now in the last stages of introducing the new 
regulations. This will mean that non-government Constant Net Asset Value 
(CNAV) funds, such as the funds the Council currently uses, will convert to 
Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV) pricing. LVNAV funds are not 
permitted to deviate by more than 0.20% – this is a more stringent approach 
than the CNAV funds which have a 0.50% collar. No additional market risk 
or loss of principal is anticipated from these changes, but the treasury team 
continues to monitor under the advice of its advisors, Link. The changes are 
anticipated in January 2019.

4. Investment Portfolio

4.1. The Council manages its investments in-house and invests with financial 
institutions meeting the Council’s approved lending criteria. The Council’s 
investment portfolio at 30th September 2018 totalled £20,570,000:

Financial Institution Country of 
Domicile Amount

Maximum 
recommended lending 

duration

Average 
interest 
rate at 
end of 
period

Money Market Funds UK £6,900,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.69%
Santander UK UK £3,700,000 RED (6 months) 1.00%
Lloyds Bank UK £3,150,000 ORANGE (12 months) 0.86%
Goldman Sachs UK £2,000,000 RED (6 months) 0.825%
Bank of Scotland UK £1,000,000 ORANGE (12 months) 0.65%
Cooperatieve 
Rabobank UA Netherlands £1,000,000 ORANGE (12 months) 1.03%

Coventry Building 
Society UK £1,000,000 RED (6 months) 0.71%

NatWest Markets 
(NRFB) - (previously 
Royal Bank of 
Scotland)

UK £1,000,000
No Colour 

(was BLUE (12 
months))

0.75%

NatWest Bank UK £820,000 BLUE (12 months) 0.05%
TOTAL £20,570,000

4.2. The maximum investment term, as recommended by Link, is shown by 
colour banding in the table below:

Page 74



4.3. Group limits are also applied:

Category
Portfolio 

(% of 
highest 

balance*)

Individual 
Principal 

Limit

Portfolio % 
increased by 

50%

Group 
Principal 

Limit

BLUE 20% £6.0m 30% £9.0m
PURPLE 20% £6.0m 30% £9.0m
ORANGE 18% £5.4m 27% £8.1m

RED 15% £4.5m 23% £6.9m
GREEN 13% £3.9m 20% £6.0m
Money 
Market 
Funds

18% £5.4m 23% £6.9m

 
4.4. The average level of funds available for investment up to 30th September 

2018 was £18.4million. Investments are generally made up of short-term 
cash and core cash. Short-term cash is dependent on the timing of major 
payments e.g. precept payments, salaries and creditor payments, and 
major receipts e.g. receipt of grants and Council Tax direct debits.  Core 
cash is dependent on capital programme commitments. 

Colour Banding
Maximum 

Duration of 
Investment

UK 
Banks

International 
Banks

PURPLE Up to 2 years £6.0m £4.5m
ORANGE Up to 12 months £5.4m £3.6m

RED Up to 6 months £4.5m £3.0m
GREEN Up to 100 days £3.9m £2.4m

BLUE (Part & fully nationalised 
financial institutions) Up to 1 year £6.0m n/a

BLUE (NatWest) Up to 1 year £9.0m n/a

Money Market Funds Up to 1 year £5.4m n/a
Up to 1 year n/a n/aWHITE (Lending to the 

Government / Local Authorities) Over 1 Year £4.0m n/a

Page 75



4.5. The Treasury Management Update report at 30th June 2018 reported to the 
Audit & Regulatory committee on 25th July 2018 that one investment of the 
Council had been affected by ‘ring-fencing’, a process in which the largest 
UK banks are required by UK law to separate core retail banking services 
from their investment and international banking activities. The 12 month 
£1,000,000 CD (Certificate of Deposit) with NatWest Markets plc (no colour) 
originally with the Royal Bank of Scotland (blue) matures on 26th October 
2018. This investment continues to be monitored and no further issues have 
arisen. The expectation remains that this will be carried to maturity.

Crescent Development

4.6. The Council is considering providing a loan as part of the Crescent 
development subject to terms set out in an Individual Executive Decision 
Report to be issued week commencing 22nd October 2018 (Confidential 
Exempt Information by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972). 

4.7. Further updates will be included in the Treasury Update reports as this 
progresses.

5. Capital Programme Update & Borrowing Position

Capital Programme Update

5.1. The table below provides current projections for capital expenditure and 
funding:

Revised TMSS 
Estimate

(May 2018)

Current Estimate 
(including 17-18 
approved carry 

forwards)*
Total Capital Expenditure £10,845,000 £11,796,000
    General Fund £6,485,000 £7,660,000
    HRA £4,360,000 £4,136,000
Funded by:
    Capital Receipts £1,108,000 £1,108,000
    External Funding £483,000 £616,000
    Capital Reserves £2,487,000 £2,895,000
    HRA Contribution £1,954,000 £1,630,000
2018/19 Net Financing Requirement £4,813,000 £5,547,000

Capital Financing Requirement
  Opening CFR £80,223,000 £79,305,000

Page 76



    PLUS Net Financing Requirement £4,813,000 £5,547,000
    LESS Minimum Revenue Provision (£1,871,000) (£2,034,000)**
  Closing CFR £83,165,000 £82,818,000
    General Fund £28,306,000 £27,959,000
    Housing £54,859,000 £54,859,000

* Pending Q2 outturn and November 2018 MTFP
** Includes termination of Finance Leases

5.2. The Net Financing Requirement on 2018/19 expenditure is now estimated 
at £5,547,000: the majority of the increase relates to reprofiled capital 
schemes carried forward from 2017/18.

5.3. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a prudential indicator set to 
ensure that the Council's capital investment plans are affordable. The CFR 
represents the total outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been 
paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure 
of the Council's underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure 
and is derived by aggregating specified items for the Council's balance 
sheet. The closing CFR is in line with the Capital Financing Requirement 
set in the Treasury Strategy Statement. On the basis of the latest forecasts, 
the Council's capital investment plans remain affordable.

Borrowing Position

5.4. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, it is a statutory duty of 
the Council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to 
borrow.  Therefore, the Council establishes ‘Affordable Borrowing Limits’ as 
part of the prudential indicators within the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.

5.5. The Council’s total outstanding debt as at 30th September 2018 is 
£71,825,404, as detailed in the table below:

Lender External 
Borrowing

Average 
Interest Rate Maturity period

Public Works Loan Board £54,025,404 3.76% between 3 and 44 years

Market Loans £12,800,000 4.57% between 4 and 48 years

Local Authority Loans £5,000,000 2.50% <1 year

Total £71,825,404 3.82%

5.6. The ‘operational boundary’ (£87,783,000) and ‘authorised limit’ 
(£90,283,000) indicators govern the maximum level of external borrowing 
available to the Council to fund the capital programme. The current level of 
borrowing is within prudential limits.

Page 77



5.7. The Council adopts a ‘one pool’ approach to borrowing whereby 
investments and borrowing are managed centrally with the proportional 
income and expenditure then split between the general fund and HRA. The 
Council has budgeted for interest charges and other financing costs of 
£1,694,500 to the general fund and £1,891,470 to the HRA in 2018/19.

5.8. The budget for borrowing costs was based on the existing external debt and 
new external debt from the 2017/18 and 2018/19 general fund borrowing 
requirements plus the refinancing of a portion of the maturing debt in 
December 2018. 

5.9. The revised capital expenditure programme for 2018/19 now forecasts a 
borrowing requirement of £5.5million, for which external borrowing is 
anticipated during the final quarter of the financial year.

5.10. There has been no ‘new’ borrowing so far during the year, nor have any 
loans been refinanced. The next maturing loans of £5million occur in 
December 2018. No new debt was taken in 2017/18 and the borrowing 
requirement from that year continues to be internally funded. The savings 
related to this internal borrowing are expected to offset the increase in 
borrowing costs relating to the revised capital expenditure programme and 
consequent borrowing requirement for 2018/19.

5.11. Overall there is a reduction in the borrowing costs expenditure forecast for 
the year of £39,210: split £11,340 to the general fund and £27,870 to the 
HRA. The underspend for the general fund relates to reduced MRP 
payment for the year as a result of a smaller borrowing requirement than 
forecast in 2017/18; the HRA is forecast to receive an improved investment 
income proportion on the basis of its reserves available for investment and 
the improving average interest rate – this is netted off the HRA’s 
proportional borrowing costs.

5.12. The treasury team will continue to monitor the appropriate time to externally 
borrow based on the profile of spend and opportunities to ‘internally’ borrow, 
considering the movement in interest rates and the cost of carry of any 
borrowings taken.

5.13. Attention must also be given to the maturity profile of the loans to ensure 
maturity dates are evenly spread so that the Council is not exposed to a 
substantial re-financing requirement at any one time, when interest rates 
are high. The graph below details the maturity profile of current loans.

Page 78



Less than 
1 year*

1 - 2 
years

2 - 5 
years

6 - 10 
years

11- 20 
years

21 - 30 
years

31 - 40 
years

41 - 50 
years

Greater 
than 50 
years

-

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

Debt Maturity Profile

*In accordance with guidance, the maturity date of LOBOS  is deemed to be the next call date. Loans of 
£4.3m showing as ‘less than 1 year’ have a full maturity date of £1m 2023/24, £3.3m 2064/65.

5.14. Debt rescheduling is the reorganisation of existing debt in such a way as to 
amend the debt repayments, reduce the principal sum borrowed, alter the 
degree of volatility of debt or vary the interest payable, thus managing the 
risk.  The treasury team, along with Link, continually monitor prospects for 
debt rescheduling to achieve overall financial benefit to the Council.

5.15. No rescheduling has taken place during 2018/19 to date.  The Council will 
work with Link to identify any potential debt rescheduling options – taking 
account of the premium the Council would expect to pay on early 
redemption compared to the potential interest savings.  

6. Prudential Indicators

6.1. The Council has operated within the treasury management and prudential 
indicators set in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2018/19 and 
complies with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

7. HRA Debt Limits

7.1. Under self-financing for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in April 2012, 
the Council’s limit on housing debt was set at £68,233,000. The intention of 
the limit was to control public sector borrowing in accordance with Treasury 
requirements. 

7.2. Following an announcement by the Prime Minister on 3rd October 2018, the 
MHCLG has stated that the HRA borrowing cap for council house building 
will be lifted. It is not clear if this implies some restriction on borrowing that 
does not relate to new building. 

Page 79



7.3. The announcement comes in the context that the £1bn additional borrowing 
headroom announced in the 2017 Budget is understood to be significantly 
oversubscribed. The Government interpretation being that councils are 
ready and willing to commit to both large and small scale new building 
projects to deliver the homes their communities need. 

7.4. Early indications were that the cap may not be lifted until next year’s 
spending review and because this will affect Government borrowing may 
come at the expense of cuts elsewhere. Further updates are expected in 
the forthcoming Budget.

Page 80



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Audit & Regulatory Committee

25 October 2018

TITLE: Appointment of Mayor 2019/20

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Ashton – Leader of the Council

CONTACT OFFICER: Linden Vernon – Senior Officer Governance 
and Member Support

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Appendices Attached – None

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the selection of the Mayor for the municipal year 2019/20.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That at its meeting on 12 December 2018 Council confirm that the Labour 
Group be invited to make a nomination for the appointment of Mayor of the 
Borough and Chairman of the Council for the municipal year 2019/20.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Mayor is selected according to a points system as referred to in Article 5 
of the Constitution and detailed in the Protocol for the Nomination of Mayor.

3.2 The system started with the actual number of members in each political group.  
Since 1980, annual adjustments have been made according to changes in 
each group’s strength.  Taking into account the current points position the 
Labour Group have the most points as at 1 October 2018.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Not applicable.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.  Nomination of the Mayor is  in accordance 
with the points system as referred to in the report.

Page 81

Agenda Item 7b



Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Article 5 of the Constitution and Protocol for 
the Nomination of Mayor

Linden Vernon
Senior Officer (Governance and 
Member Support)
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

6. Detail

6.1 The Mayor is selected according to a points system as referred to in Article 5 
of the Constitution and detailed in the Protocol for the Nomination of Mayor.

6.2 The basic principle is the political group with most points at 1 October each 
year, has the opportunity to nominate the Mayor for the next municipal year.

6.3 The system started with the actual number of members in each political group.  
Since 1980, annual adjustments have been made according to changes in 
each group’s strength.

6.4 Whenever a group nominate a Mayor, ten points are deducted from their 
points total and this shows up the following October. 

6.5 The points system for the selection of the Mayor currently stands as follows:

Group Points as 
at 

1.10.17

Mayor 
for 

2018/19

Points 
as at 

1.10.18
Conservative 15 X 15-10=

5
Labour 14 14

Liberal Democrat & 
Independent 
Alliance

11 11

6.6 In respect of the Deputy Mayor, the points system does not apply.

6.7 In some years, the Deputy Mayor has been chosen with a view to progressing 
to Mayor the following year, but this is not always the case.

Page 82

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1295/The-Constitution
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1295/The-Constitution
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1295/The-Constitution


HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Council 

12 December 2018

To approve the following recommendation of the Licensing Committee:

a) GAMBLING POLICY UPDATE (STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2019-
2022)

RECOMMENDED:

That the revised Statement of Principles 2019 – 2022 be approved.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

TITLE: Recommendations from the Licensing 
Committee – 29 November 2018

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark Trillo, Executive Director (People) & 
Monitoring Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: As detailed in the attached report

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Licensing Committee

29 November 2018

TITLE: Gambling Policy Update (Statement of 
Principles 2019-2022) 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Kemp- Executive Councillor for 
Tourism, Regeneration & Licensing

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Operations Manager

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific 

Appendices Attached – Statement of Principles 2019-2022 (Gambling Act 
2005)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Council complies with its legal 
obligations as provided by the Gambling Act 2005 which requires that the 
Council must consult and publish a revised Statement of Principles every 3 
years.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Committee considers the consultation response from the Gambling 
Commission as detailed in 3.5 of this report and revises the Statement of 
Principles 2019 - 2022 as attached at Appendix A. 

2.2 That the Committee RECOMMENDS the revised Statement of Principles 2019 
– 2022 to Full Council for approval.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires that the Council as a licensing 
authority prepares and publishes a Statement of Principles under the 
Gambling Act 2005 every three years.  The Council’s Statement of Principles 
is due for renewal in 2019.  The Statement will last for a 3 year period but may 
be reviewed at any time prior to this by the authority. 

3.2 It is a further requirement of the Act that a revised policy must be approved at 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8a



a full meeting of the Council.  Such approval cannot be granted until 
consultation has been undertaken with a range of statutory bodies defined by 
the Act.

3.3 A small number of amendments have been made to the 2016 Policy and 
incorporated in the new Statement of Principles policy 2019 - 2022 following 
consideration of the consultation responses received.  The main amendments 
are summarised below:

 The appendix relating to Gaming Machines, their stakes and prizes and 
location has been removed. This is under advice from the Gambling 
Commission as the information is subject to change and if it did so then a 
review of the Council Policy would be required;

 The local area profile section of the Introduction on page 3 of the Policy 
has been reduced. The Gambling Commission has advised that if a 
Council wishes to create a local area profile it is best doing so as a 
separate ‘live’ document so it can be updated without the need to review 
the Policy and can readily address a change in circumstances of a 
particular area;

 The local risk assessments section of the Policy (Part B – General 
Principles page 10-11) has been improved to set down specific 
considerations that premises licence holders/applicants must include in 
their premises risk assessments. These risk assessments must be readily 
available at each premises for officers to inspect;

 The section of the Policy on Exchange of Information (page 7) has been 
included to set out the Council’s position in respect of how we will process 
the data that we hold.

3.4 The Consultation was undertaken between 25th September 2018 and 6th 
November 2018 and included all the relevant Stakeholders listed in page 4 of 
the Policy.

3.5 The Council only received one response during the consultation period. The 
Gambling Commission offered advice that where the Policy does not specify 
as such, it should contain a reference requiring that the Local Risk 
Assessment prepared by an operator should be kept and made available for 
inspection on the premises by an Authorised Officer. This can be 
accommodated within the General Principles section on page 10 of the Policy 
document which it refers specifically to the LCCP Part II guidance on Risk 
Assessments. 

4. Options and Analysis 

4.1 That the Committee approves the revised Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022 
including the recommendation from the Gambling Commission at point 3.3 of 
this report. (Recommended) 

4.2 That the Committee approves the revised Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022 
without including the recommendation from the Gambling Commission. (Not 
Recommended) 

Page 86



5. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

The contents of this report relate to the following corporate priorities:

 Creating a cleaner, safer and sustainable Borough.
 Creating a healthy and active community.

Mr Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Statement of 
Principles 2019-2022 
(Appendix A) 

Alicia Patterson
Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services 
(Regulatory)
alicia.patterson@staffs
moorlands.gov.uk

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

1

HIGH PEAK 

BOROUGH COUNCIL

GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT OF  
PRINCIPLES

2019-2022

Page 89



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

2

Gambling Act 2005
Statement of Principles

Contents

Item Page
1.  The Licensing objectives 3
2.  Introduction 3-5
3.  Declaration 5
4.  Responsible Authorities 5
5.  Interested Parties 6-7
6.  Exchange of Information 7
7.  Enforcement 8-9
8.  Licensing authority functions 9
Part B – Premises licences – Consideration of Licences
1.  General Principles 10-17
2.  Adult Gaming Centres 17
3.  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 18
4.  Casinos 19
5.  Bingo 19-20
6.  Betting Premises 20
7.  Tracks 20-22
8.  Travelling fairs 22
9.   Provisional Statements 23-24
10. Reviews 24-25
Part C – Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 26
2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 26-27
3. Prize Gaming Permits 27-28
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 28-29
5. Temporary Use Notices 29-30
6. Occasional Use Notices 30
7. Small Society Lotteries 30-31
Appendices
1. Table of Delegations of Licensing Functions 32
2. Map of High Peak District 33
3. Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards to 
Local Area Risk Assessments

34

Important Note:

Any reference made to Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the 
Gambling Commission relates to the Fifth Edition released in September 
2015.

Page 90



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

3

1. The Licensing Objectives

In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 
of the Act.  The licensing objectives are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions 
about premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks is:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and in accordance with 
the authority’s statement of licensing policy

2.  Introduction

High Peak Borough Council is situated in the County of Derbyshire, which 
contains eight District/Borough Councils and one Unitary Authority in total. 
High Peak Borough Council area has a population of 90,892 (2011 Census) 
and covers 39,171 hectares.

High Peak is a largely rural area with the main centres of population being 
Glossop, Buxton, New Mills, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge. Appendix 
3 shows a map of High Peak.

Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 
statement of the principles, which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts 
re-consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published. The previous 
Policy statement was published in 2016.

Page 91



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

4

High Peak Borough Council will consult widely upon this statement before 
finalising and publishing.  A list of the consultees is provided below. 

The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 
Licensing Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s 
area;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 
authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

This Licensing Authority will consult with:

 The Chief Constable, Derbyshire Constabulary
 Derbyshire Safeguarding Board, Derbyshire County 
      Council Social Services
 Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service
 Derbyshire Youth Services
 Derbyshire County Council Trading Standards
 Trade associations as appropriate
 British Beer & Pub Association
 Association of British Bookmakers
 High Peak Borough Council elected Members
 All Parish and Town Councils in High Peak
 Local Chamber of Trade
 All Town Centre Co-ordinators
 Neighbouring local authorities
 All Internal Departments of High Peak Borough Council 
 All persons who hold Amusement Arcade Permits in High Peak
 All persons who hold Betting Office Permits
 Citizens Advice Bureau
 Relevant debt collection advisory services
 Members of the Public and  Representatives of persons who hold Small 

Society Lottery Registrations in High Peak (via the website)

The consultation took place between and 25 September 2018 and 
6 November 2018.  This licensing authority followed the HM Government 
Code of Practice on Consultation (published July 2012).

The full list of comments made will be made available upon request to: The 
Licensing Section, High Peak Borough Council, Town Hall, Market Place, 
Buxton  SK17 6EL.
.

Page 92



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

5

This policy will be approved at a meeting of the Full Council after consultation. 
Copies will be available for inspection on the website at 
www.highpeak.gov.uk.

Should you have any comments as regards this statement of principles please 
send them via e-mail or letter to the following contact:

Operations Manager – Regulatory Services
High Peak Borough Council, Town Hall, Market Place, Buxton  SK17 6EL
E-mail:  licensing@highpeak.gov.uk

It should be noted that this statement of principles will not override the right of 
any person to make an application, make representations about an 
application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on 
its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling 
Act 2005.  

3. Declaration

In producing the statement of principles, this licensing authority declares that 
it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
guidance to licensing authorities issued by the Gambling, and any responses 
from those consulted on the statement.

4. Responsible Authorities

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of 
the licensing authority’s area.

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group.

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities, this authority designates the Derbyshire Safeguarding Board 
at Derbyshire County Council for this purpose.

Section 157 of the Act identifies the bodies that are to be treated as 
responsible authorities.  They are as follows:

 The Licensing Authority (High Peak Borough Council)
 The Gambling Commission
 The Chief Officer of Police for Derbyshire
 Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service
 Local Planning Authority (High Peak Borough Council)

Page 93

mailto:licensing@highpeak.gov.uk


High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

6

 Environmental Health Pollution Section, High Peak Borough Council
 Derbyshire Area Child Protection Services, Derbyshire County Council 

Social Services
 HM Revenue and Customs
 Director of Public Health for Derbyshire County Council
 Any other person prescribed in regulations by the Secretary of State

The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 
2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.highpeak.gov.uk.

5. Interested parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

 “For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the 
licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is 
made, the person:

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
      authorised activities,

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, 
or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:

Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid 
rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations 
provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities as 
listed below.

Persons living close to premises
The factors that licensing authorities should take into account when 
determining what ‘sufficiently close to the premises’ means (in each case) 
may include: 

 the size of the premises
 the nature of the premises
 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making 

the representation
 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes 

likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment)

Page 94



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

7

 the circumstances of the complainant.  This is not the personal 
characteristics of the complainant, but the interests of the complainant 
which may be relevant to the distance from the premises.

Persons with business interests
The factors which this licensing authority will take into account when 
determining what “business interest that might be affected” may include:

 the size of the premises
 the’catchment’ area of the premises (that is, how far people travel to 

visit the premises)
 whether the person making the representation has business interests 

in that catchment area that might be affected.

This licensing authority will also consider the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance that “business interests” should be given the widest possible 
interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical 
practices.

Interested parties 
Can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and MPs.  
No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will be 
required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be 
affected.  Likewise, Parish Councils likely to be affected will be considered to 
be interested parties.  Other than these, however, this authority will generally 
require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) 
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests 
that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these 
persons, requesting the representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 
views then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are 
any doubts, then please contact the licensing department.

6. Exchange of Information

Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles 
to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 
and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act 
with the respect to the exchange of information between it and the other 
persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the commensurate General Data Protection Regulations will not be 

Page 95



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

8

contravened.  The licensing authority will also have regard to any Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter when 
it is published, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

The Council has a duty to protect the public funds it administers and, to this 
end, may use the information provided for the prevention and detection of 
fraud. It may also share information with other bodies responsible for auditing 
or administering public funds for these purposes, eg. National Fraud Initiative

Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with 
other bodies then they will be made available. 

7. Enforcement 

Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 
to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified.

This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and will endeavour to be:

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified 
and minimised;

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be 
subject to public scrutiny;

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly;

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly;  and

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 
side effects. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local 
authorities this licensing authority will endeavour to avoid duplication 
with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.  

This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based 
programme, based on:

 The licensing objectives:
 Relevant codes of practice;
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy.   

The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling 

Page 96



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

9

Commission will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal 
licences, large society lotteries, remote gambling through websites and the 
National Lottery.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to 
the Gambling Commission. 

This licensing authority will keep abreast of developments as regards to the 
Regulators’ Compliance Code and the principles of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006.

Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, the licensing authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request.

8. Licensing Authority functions

Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are 
to take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

 Issue Provisional Statements; 
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits; 

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs; 
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; 
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing 

Act 2003) or the use of two or fewer gaming machines;
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed 

to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines;

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits; 
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 
 Receive Occasional Use Notices (for tracks);
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 

licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange);
 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 

functions.

Page 97



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

10

PART B
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS

1. General Principles 

Premises licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions set out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State.  Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate.

(i)  Decision making
This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises 
licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling :

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission

The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice 
(LCCP) which were revised and published in February 2015 formalised the 
need for Operators to consider local risks. The LCCP was most recently 
revised in April 2018

Part II of the LCCP provides:
1 Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by 
the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have 
policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making 
risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified 
in the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy. 
2 Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 
assessments: 

a to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in a licensing authority’s statement of 
licensing policy; 
b when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may 
affect their mitigation of local risks; 
c when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d in any case, undertakes a local risk assessment when applying for a 
new premises licence. 

Part II also provides:
1 Licensees should share their risk assessment with licensing authorities 
when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing 
licensed premises, or otherwise on request.

Page 98



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

11

The Licensing Authority must provide guidance to operators on what it 
considers should be included in the risk assessments and identify any local 
risks to be considered prior to making an application. The guidance will be 
appended to the Statement of Principles, and may be amended from time to 
time subject to approval by the Licensing Committee.

The Council will expect the local risk assessment to include the below 
considerations as a minimum:

- The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
leisure/community centres and other areas where children will 
gather;

- The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups;
- Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime 

and/or disorder;
- How vulnerable people, including those with gambling; 

dependencies are protected;
- Any information held regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling;
- Gaming trends that reflect pay day or benefit payments;
- Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street 

drinkers, individuals involved in areas such as ASB, drug dealing 
etc;

- Areas or premises where children are known to congregate 
including bus stops, cafes etc;

- Areas or premises that may be frequented by vulnerable adults 
such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, 
addiction clinics, places where alcohol or drug dependant 
individuals may congregate. 

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities 
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’) and also 
that unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority (see section on 
Casinos).

(ii) Definition of “premises” - Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”.  
Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to 
any place, but a single building can be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided they are for different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a 
pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises 
licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing 
authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-
divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory 
conditions relating to access between premises are observed.

Page 99



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

12

The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
that:

 “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject 
of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But that does not 
mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for 
the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether 
different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will 
clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely 
to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  
However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are 
artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable 
partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises”.  

Licensing Authorities should take particular care in considering applications 
for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 
by gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore premises should be configured so that children are 
not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
“drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensed premises or 
premises with a permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should 
be aware of, which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Are neighbouring premises owned by the same person as that 

premises subject to the Gambling Act requirements?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 

premises?

This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.

Page 100



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

13

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each 
premises type are reproduced below:

Casinos
 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street. 
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 

mainly by children and/or young persons.
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other 

premises which holds a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any 

other licensed gambling premises.

Betting Shops
 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting 

premises licence.
 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 

retail sale of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the 
back of a café’ – the whole area would have to be licensed.

Tracks
 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises
 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

(iii) Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an 
application for a provisional statement should be made instead.

Page 101



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

14

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process:

 whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling;
 whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought 
to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence.

(iv) Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be 
considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in 
terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decision making. As per 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities, this authority 
will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards 
areas where gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with 
the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns can be 
overcome. 

(v)  Planning
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that in 
determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any 
irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives.  One example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for 
their proposal. This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as 
per the above guidance. 

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings need 
to or do comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Those 
matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building 
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into 
account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or 
building consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally 
the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any 
action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.

(vi) Duplication with other regulatory regimes – This licensing authority 
seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where 

Page 102



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

15

possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though listen to, and consider 
carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply 
with the necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety 
risks will not be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under 
relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations and must not form 
part of the consideration for the premises licence.

Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this 
licensing authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities and some comments are made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known high 
levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether 
gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions 
may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This licensing 
authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider such factors (for example whether police assistance was required 
and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to 
make that distinction.  

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated 
that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned 
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, as this will 
be addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however, more of 
a role with regard to track gambling which is explained in more detail in the 
‘tracks’ section (see page 20).

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
local authorities states that this objective means preventing children from 
taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children).  The 

Page 103



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

16

licensing authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas, use of 
‘Challenge 25’ principles etc.

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that neither the Gambling 
Commission nor the Council is seeking to offer a definition but will, for 
regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who gamble 
more than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means and people 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling 
due to mental health needs, learning disability or substance misuse relating to 
alcohol or drugs. The Council will consider this licensing objective on a case 
by case basis having regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission. Should a practical definition prove possible in future then this 
policy statement will be updated with it, by way of a revision.

Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be:

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
      facility;
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
 reasonable in all other respects. 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This 
licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This authority will also consider specific measures, which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures 
may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 
licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance.  

This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;

Page 104



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

17

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable.

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 
of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the 
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to 
enter.

Conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises licences 
are:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation;

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 
(the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement 
for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated; 
and

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes

Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in Guidance for local 
authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may 
attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example 
by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the 
premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a 
premises licence to this effect.

Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or 
not will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to 
be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary.

 
2. Adult Gaming Centres
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 

Page 105



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

18

measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access 
to the premises.

This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such 
      as GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises.

This licensing authority notes that the holder of an Adult Gaming Centre 
premise licence may make available for use a number of category B gaming 
Machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which 
are available for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13 July 
2011 are entitled to make available four category B gaming machines, or 20% 
of the total number of gaming machines, which ever is the greater.  A licence 
variation may be required if operators wishing to take advantage of this 
change in legislation need to make alterations to the structure/layout of the 
premises.

The holder of an Adult Gaming Centre premise licence granted on or after 13 
July 2011, but before 1 April 2014, is entitled to make available a maximum of 
four category B machines or 20% of the total number of gaming machines 
whichever is the greater; however, from 1 April 2014 these premises will be 
entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine areas. 

This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives; however appropriate measures/ licence 
conditions may cover issues such as:

Page 106



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

19

 CCTV
 Door supervisors
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such 

as GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to 
operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated.  This licensing authority will also make 
itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these premises 
licences, when they have been published.  

4. Casinos

No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ 
resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it 
has the power to do so. Should this licensing authority decide in the future to 
pass such a resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that 
resolution. Any such decision will be made by the Full Council.

5. Bingo premises

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states:

Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played 
in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a 
relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises 
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from 
is ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for 
that or those excluded areas.

This authority also notes the unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a 
pre-existing premise into two adjacent premises might be permitted, and in 
particular that it is not permissible to locate sixteen category B3 gaming 
machines in one of the resulting premises, as the gaming machine entitlement 
for that premises would be exceeded.

Page 107



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

20

Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are 
not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are 
made available for use these must be separated from areas where children 
and young people are allowed. 

This licensing authority notes that the holder of a Bingo premise licence may 
make available for use a number of category B gaming Machines not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available 
for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are 
entitled to make available eight category B gaming machines, or 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines, which ever is the greater.  A licence 
variation may be required if operators wishing to take advantage of this 
change in legislation need to make alterations to the structure/layout of the 
premises.

The holder of an a bingo premise licence granted on or after 13 July 2011, but 
before 1 April 2014, is entitled to make available a maximum of eight category 
B machines or 20% of the total number of gaming machines whichever is the 
greater; however, from 1 April 2014 these premises will be entitled to 20% of 
the total number of gaming machines only. Regulation state that category B 
machines at bingo premises should be restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 
machines, but not B3A lottery machines.

6. Betting premises

Betting premises are premises such as bookmakers where various types of 
gambling are authorised to take place. The Act contains a single class of 
licence for betting premises. However, within this single class there are 
different types of premises which require licensing such as normal high street 
bookmakers, bookmakers located in self-contained facilities at racecourses as 
well as the general betting premises licences that track operators will require

Betting machines – the Council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains 
an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting 
machines and the nature and circumstances in which they are made available 
by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence. When 
considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises the Council, amongst other things, will take 
into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person to person transactions and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for 
those under18 to bet) or by vulnerable people.

7. Tracks

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 

Page 108



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

21

of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective 
(i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas 
where they are not permitted to enter.

This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicants to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 
adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place but that they are still 
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category 
D machines) are provided.

This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Self-baring schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such 
     as Gamcare

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of 
example measures.

Gaming machines – Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating 
licence and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) should be located in areas from 
which children are excluded. 

The Council will also consider the special implications of betting machines 
that may arise at a track due to the size of the premises and the possibility 
that machines may be scattered around the site making it more difficult for the 
track operator to comply with the law and prevent children from betting on the 
machines.

The Council agrees with the Commission’s view that it is preferable for all self-
contained premises operated by off-course betting operators on track to be 
the subject of separate premises licences. This ensures that there is clarity 
between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-
course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises

Page 109



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

22

The Council will consider any Gambling Commission guidance about the 
application of conditions regarding rules being displayed. The Council may 
require the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in 
or near the betting areas, or that the rules are displayed in the race card or 
made available in leaflet form from the track office.

Track applications and plans
The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises 
with their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling.  The plan will also be used for the licensing 
authority to plan future premises inspection activity.

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to 
scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by 
regulations.

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not 
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  
In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders 
may erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises.

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that 
the track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding 
of sporting events or races.  In such cases betting facilities may be better 
provided through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not 
need to be defined.

It is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting areas on 
tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not 
required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is 
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties 
associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  
Applicants should provided sufficient information that this authority can satisfy 
itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place.  
For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” 
(commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan.

8. Travelling Fairs

Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low 
stake gambling without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain 
conditions are met and this provision continues in similar fashion under the 
new Act

Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D 
gaming machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a 

Page 110



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

23

permit) as long as the gambling amounts to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair.

The Council will consider whether any fairs which take up the above 
entitlement fall within the statutory definition of a travelling fair.

The Council is aware that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being 
used as a fair is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on 
which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land. The Council will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses its boundaries is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

9. Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
premises licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating 
licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the 
licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or 
she:

- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to 
give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises 
licence.  Responsible authorities and interested parties may make 
representations and there are rights of appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy 
the premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence 
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  The licensing 
authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining 
the premises licence application, and in terms of representations about 
premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement, 
no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can 
be taken into account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.

Page 111



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

24

In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
statement stage;

 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or

  where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the 
plan submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change 
to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision.

10.   Reviews:

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities; for the licensing authority to decide whether 
the review is valid. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 
review is relevant to the matters listed below: 
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the 
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, 
or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 
for review.

The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate.

Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing 
authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and 
interested parties during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the 
application was received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of 
the application within 7 days of receipt.

The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 
28 day period for making representations has passed.

The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority 
should take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the 
options open to the licensing authority are:-

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by 
the licensing authority

Page 112



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

25

(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of 
State or Scottish Ministers (e.g. opening hours) or 
remove or amend such an exclusion;

(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding 
three months; and

(d) revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of 
the Act, as well as any relevant representations.

In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises 
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided 
facilities for gambling at the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying 
for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them.

Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as 
possible, notify its decision to:

- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Page 113



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

26

PART C
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine 
permits (Statement of Principles on Permits – Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It 
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly 
or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238).

Guidance also states: “An application for a permit may be granted only if the 
licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application.  
Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act; and

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.”

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this 
type of permit.  

This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is 
not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits, however, they may include appropriate 
measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the 
premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived 
problems on / around the premises.  This licensing authority will also expect, 
as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions 
(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to 
have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

2.  (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Schedule 13 
paragraph 4(1)) Automatic entitlement: 2 machines

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing 
authority.  

Page 114



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

27

The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of 
any particular premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 

the licensing objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 

section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided 
to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any 
relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the 
location and operation of the machine has been complied with);

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

Permit: 3 or more machines

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon 
the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they 
think relevant”.  “Such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis with 
regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or 
being exploited by gambling and an expectation that the applicant will 
demonstrate there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which 
will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the adult 
machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that 
the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage 
may also be of help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

Some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for their 
non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to 
be applied for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

The licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 
number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

3. Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
under this Schedule which may, in particular, specify matters that the 
licensing authority proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the 
applicant for a permit”.

Page 115



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

28

This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles that it 
proposes to apply, which is that the applicant should set out the types of 
gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be 
able to demonstrate:

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prized that are set out in 
Regulations;

  that the gaming offered is within the law
 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 

harm.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 
does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must 
have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, 
Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

There are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which the permit holder 
must comply, however the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with;

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises 
on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be 
played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result 
of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played;

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out 
in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary 
prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling.

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) 
may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit.  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and 
games of chance as set out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming 
machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D).

Gambling Commission Guidance states:  Members clubs must have at least 
25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate 
regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which 
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must 

Page 116



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

29

be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and 
controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.

Before granting the permit, the Council will need to satisfy itself that the 
premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and that the majority of 
members are over 18 years of age.

The Commission Guidance also notes that licensing authorities may only 
refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to 
receive the type of permit for which it has applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons;

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 
the applicant while providing gaming facilities;

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or 

(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with 
any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation 
of gaming machines.

5. Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
Statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 
(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use 
Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance 
gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in 
practice means poker tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.  The 
meaning of “premises” in part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, 

Page 117



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

30

the definition of “a set of premises” is defined as including “any place”.  In 
considering whether a place falls within the definition of “a set of premises”, 
the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises.
 
This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described 
as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

6. Occasional Use Notices:

The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded.  This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a 
‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.

7.  Small Society Lotteries

The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries - licensed lotteries and 
exempt lotteries. Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and lotteries run 
for the benefit of local authorities. These will be regulated by the Gambling 
Commission. Within the class of exempt lotteries, there are four sub classes, 
one of which is small society lotteries

A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial 
society as defined in the Act which also meets specific financial requirements 
set out in the Act. These may be administered by the Council for small 
societies who have a principal office in the area and wish to run such a lottery

A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is 
£20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a 
calendar year is £250,000 or less

To be ‘non-commercial’, a society must be established and conducted:

• For charitable purposes
• For the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or 
a cultural activity; or
• For any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.

The other types of exempt lotteries are ‘incidental non-commercial lotteries’, 
‘private lotteries’ and ‘customer lotteries’

The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 
enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries.  The authority 
considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk 
status of the operator:

Page 118



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

31

 Submission of late returns ( returns must be submitted no later that 3 
months after the date on which the lottery was held)

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns.
 Breaches of limits for small society lotteries

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial 
event, either as an incidental or principal activity at the event.  Events are non 
commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain.  The 
proceeds of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is 
organised:

 By, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes
 To enable participation in or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 

activities.

If charities or community groups need further help or advice then they can 
contact the Council’s Licensing Team.

Page 119



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

32

AppendixAppendix  11::  TABLETABLE  OFOF  DELEGATIONSDELEGATIONS  OFOF  LICENSINGLICENSING  FUNCTIONSFUNCTIONS

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICERS

Three year licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee Setting - when appropriate X (to be approved by Licensing & 
Regulatory Committee)

Application for premises licences Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a licence Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a licence Where representations have been 
received from the Commission

Where no representations 
received from the Commission

Application for a provisional statement Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits

Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits X

Applications for other permits X

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits X

Consideration of temporary use notice X

Decision to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice X

Small Society Lotteries Where refusal or revocation is 
recommended

Authority to grant or cancel Small 
Society registrations

Page 120



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

33

Appendix 2: Map of the High Peak District 

Page 121



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

34

Appendix 3: Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards 
to Local Area Risk Assessments

Local Gambling Risk Assessment - SAMPLE
Premises Name: Premises Licence Number (If 

Applicable): 
Premises Address: 
Post Code: 
Category of gambling premises licence: 
Name of person completing the assessment: 
Date original assessment carried out:

This risk assessment must be completed for all new premises or when the 
premises licence is varied. The assessment must also be reviewed when there 
are any significant changes to either the local circumstances and/or the premises. 

Complete a) - c) with areas that may pose a risk to the licensing objectives by 
virtue of the provision of gambling facilities at the premises having regard to Local 
Area, Gambling Operation and premises design.

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

d) Control measures (based on the information above for a) – c), state the control 
measures you will put in place, e.g. systems, design and physical)

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the three licensing objectives:

ACTIONS FOLLOWING ASSESSMENT
AREA e.g local area, 
gambling operation, 
premises design

PERSON/DEPT 
TASKED 

DATE 
TASKED

DATE TASK 
COMPLETED

Signed: Date:

Page 122



High Peak Borough Council
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

35

PRINT NAME:
For further guidance on completing this assessment or when this assessment 
must be reviewed please refer to Gambling Commission Guidance on 
Undertaking Gambling Local Area Risk Assessments para 6.41 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA5---March-2015.pdf 

Page 123

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA5---March-2015.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Council 

12 December 2018

To approve the following recommendation of the Standards Committee:

a) STANDARDS COMMITTEE - ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

RECOMMENDED:

That the report be noted.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

TITLE: Recommendations from the Standards 
Committee – 15 November 2018

CONTACT OFFICER: Mark Trillo, Executive Director (People) & 
Monitoring Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: As detailed in the attached report

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Standards Committee

15 November 2018

TITLE: Standards Committee Annual Report 2017/18

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Thrane- Executive Councillor for 
Finance and Operational Services

CONTACT OFFICER: Linden Vernon – Senior Officer (Governance 
and Member Support)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-Specific

Appendix A – Role of the Committee

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To review the work of the Standards Committee during 2017/2018.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 This report provides an overview of the issues considered by the Standards 
Committee during 2017/18.  This included the following matters:

 Monitoring complaints received regarding alleged breaches of the 
Code of Conduct

 The Annual Letter received from the Local Government 
Ombudsman 

 Review of the Council’s Local Ethical Framework
 An annual review of Councillor development
 Department for Communities and Local Government consultation on 

updating disqualification criteria for local authority members
 Local government ethical standards consultation

Page 127

Agenda Item 9a



4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 High standards of conduct are integral to the Council achieving its corporate 
priorities.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Standards Committee Reports Linden Vernon 
Senior Officer (Governance and 
Member Support)
E mail: 
linden.vernon@highpeak.gov.uk
Tel: 01538 395613

6. Detail

6.1 Article 9 of the Council’s Constitution defines the role of the Standards 
Committee and is shown in full in Appendix A to this report.  In summary this 
includes:

 Promoting high standards of conduct amongst councillors and making 
sure they are properly trained

 Granting dispensations to Borough councillors
 Ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for dealing with 

allegations into breaches of the Code of Conduct
 Hearing representations from councillors who may become disqualified 

for not attending meetings
 Advising the Council on Members’ allowances

6.2 The current membership of the committee is provided below. The Council’s 
Independent Persons continue to be invited to attend and participate at 
Committee meetings.  

Borough Councillors Cllr Clive Johnson (Chair)
Cllr Fiona Sloman (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Caroline Howe
Cllr John Kappes
Cllr Graham Oakley
Cllr Rachel Quinn

Page 128

https://democracy.highpeak.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=148
mailto:linden.vernon@highpeak.gov.uk


Co-opted Town/Parish 
representatives (non-voting)

Cllr Tim Norton
Vacant Position

Independent Persons Mr Peter Matthews
Mr Philip Carnall (Substitute)
Mr Peter Grant (Substitute)
Mrs Cheryl Morgan (Substitute)

Monitoring complaints received regarding alleged breaches of the Code of 
Conduct

6.3 The Committee continued to receive regular complaint monitoring reports 
regarding alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct.  These reports updated 
members on the number and nature of complaints dealt with by the Monitoring 
Officer and explained:

 If these related to borough, town or parish councillors
 If any further action should be taken
 If further investigations were considered to be appropriate

6.4 This information is then used to identify trends and consider themes for which 
training seminars may be planned.  The table below summarises the 
complaints received for the previous years and compares these with the 
Authority’s Strategic Alliance partner, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council.

No. of ComplaintsYear
High Peak 
Parish Cllr

High Peak 
Borough 

Cllr

High Peak 
Total

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Total
2013/14 10 1 11 4
2014/15 2 1 3 6
2015/16 4 0 4 15
2016/17 4 2 6 25
2017/18 1 3 4 13

The Annual Letter received from the Local Government Ombudsman 

6.5 The Annual Letter of the Local Government Ombudsman was considered by 
the Committee at its meeting in November 2017.  The table below provides a 
summary of the number of complaints dealt with by the Ombudsman set 
against the total number of complaints received by the Authority.  For 
comparison purposes figures for previous years are also provided together 
with details for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC).

Page 129



No. of Ombudsman Complaints
HPBC SMDC

Year

No. of 
Enquiries 

or 
Complaints

Total 
Number of 
Complaints

No. of 
Enquiries 

or 
Complaints

Total 
Number of 
Complaints

2012/13 10 404 14 439
2013/14 20* 372 12 280
2014/15 12 413 10 284
2015/16 11 368 13 258
2016/17 8* 448 10 245

* This includes one complaint from the Housing Ombudsman Service.  

6.6 The relatively small number of complaints that reach the Ombudsman 
compared to the total number of complaints received by the Authority 
illustrates the strength of the Council in ensuring complaints are dealt with 
promptly and appropriately.

Review of Local Ethical Framework

6.7 In July 2017 the Committee reviewed and approved a revised Local Ethical 
Framework which draws together various Council policies to ensure high 
standards of ethical behaviour and good governance throughout the Authority.  
The Framework included a commitment to review the document to ensure that 
it is entirely “fit for purpose” and reflects all relevant best practice guidance.

6.8 The revision took into account consequential amendments including the 
adoption of the Local Public Services Senior Managers’ Code of Ethics and 
revised core principles for good governance held within the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance.

Annual Review of Councillor Development

6.9 A report was presented to the Committee in November 2017 which reviewed 
the Development Programme for councillors.  This was focused on 
consolidating members’ requirements following the completion of the Induction 
Programme implemented after the May 2015 local elections.  The programme 
also aimed to address any changes in legislation and the Council’s priorities.

6.10 A total of 7 sessions had been held.  These included regulatory updates for 
licensing/development control, a Customer Service Day, using the 
Modern.Gov tablet application and the Big Energy Saving Network.

Page 130



6.11 Members are requested to complete evaluation forms after each session.  
Scores and comments are compiled and circulated to the course providers 
and are used to inform the structure and content of future courses.  

6.12 The majority of sessions were organised internally and delivered by officers.  
This has been shown to be a very cost effective method and the feedback 
from councillors supports the use of in-house expertise.  

Department for Communities and Local Government consultation on updating 
disqualification criteria for local authority members

6.13 The Committee was presented with a report with regards to a consultation 
conducted by the Department for Communities and Local Government on 
proposals to update the criteria for disqualifying individuals from standing for, 
or holding office as, a local authority member, directly-elected mayor or 
member of the London Assembly.

6.14 A response was subsequently submitted on behalf of the Council.  The 
Government has recently responded to the consultation and stated that it 
believes that where an individual is subject to the notification requirements set 
out in the Sexual Offences Act 2003 or the subject of anti-social behaviour 
sanctions they should be barred from standing for election.  Where an 
individual is subject to a Sexual Risk Order, they should be prohibited from 
standing for election.  Any changes to disqualification criteria will require 
changes to primary legislation.  The Government will look to identify a suitable 
legislative opportunity when parliamentary time allows.

Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation

6.15 The Committee considered a report with regards to a consultation exercise to 
review local government ethical standards by the Committee for Standards in 
Public Life.  Discussion included the types of sanctions currently available, 
allegations made against parish councillors and circumstances which may 
trigger an investigation.  

6.16 The committee also considered requirements for declaration of interests at 
meetings.  This included the potential advantages of declaring a conflict of 
loyalty as a type of interest at meetings, as used by some other organisations.  
It was thought that this may sometimes enable a councillor, not involved in 
making the decision, to continue to provide useful background information 
during meetings where they may have an overlapping role (e.g. representation 
of the Council to an outside body).  Discussion also included the possible 
addition of a “right to make representations” for councillors at meetings such 
as Development Control Committee.  

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

ARTICLE 9

THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE

9.1 Role 

(a) The Council will establish a Standards Committee to carry out the 
functions set out more fully in Part 3 of the Constitution. These include, 
promoting high standards of conduct amongst councillors and making 
sure they are properly trained; granting dispensations; ensuring that 
appropriate arrangements are in place for dealing with allegations into 
breaches of the Code of Conduct; hearing representations from 
councillors who may become disqualified for not attending meetings; 
advising the Council on Members’ allowances. 

9.2 Composition

(a) Membership

The Standards Committee will be composed of:

 six members of the Council appointed proportionally

 up to two Town or Parish Council members who may be co-opted 
on to the Committee as non-voting members

(b) Independent Person

The Council’s Independent Person (and their substitutes) will be invited 
to attend meetings of the Standards Committee and will be entitled an 
allowance and to the same subsistence and travelling allowances as 
elected members.

(c) Parish/Town Councillors

Where a complaint refers to a Parish/Town Councillor, hereafter known 
as a Parish Councillor, a non-voting Parish member of the Standards 
Committee may also attend any Hearing Panel and will be entitled to an 
allowance and the same subsistence and travelling allowances as 
elected members.

9.3 Other functions

(a) The Hearings Panel (a Sub-Committee of the Council’s Standards 
Committee) shall comprise a maximum of five councillors of the 

Page 133



Council’s Standards Committee, including not more than one member 
of the authority’s Executive. The appointed Hearings Panel shall 
nominate a Hearings Panel Chair.  The Independent Person shall be 
invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Panel.  Where a 
complaint refers to a Parish Councillor, a non-voting Parish member of 
the Standards Committee may also attend any Hearing Panel.

(b) The Committee will hear appeals from officers who do not wish to 
appear as witnesses before a select committee (see Protocol for 
Officers in Part 4 of the Constitution); monitor complaints received by 
the Ombudsman; monitor the member development programme and 
evaluate its effectiveness.

Page 134



Motion from the High Peak Labour Group to Full Council : Breaking Point campaign 

Proposed by Cllr Damien Greenhalgh

Seconded by Cllr Anthony Mckeown

This Council notes that many council budgets are now at Breaking Point. Austerity has caused 
huge damage to communities up and down the UK, with devastating effects on key public services 
that protect the most defenceless in society – children at risk, disabled adults and vulnerable older 
people – and the services we all rely on, like clean streets, libraries, and children’s centres;

This council further notes :

• Conservative Government cuts mean councils have lost 60p out of every £1 that the last 
Labour Government was spending on local government in 2010;

• With an aging population and growing demand adult social care faces a gap of £3.5 billion – 
with only 14% of council workers now confident that vulnerable local residents are safe and 
cared for

• Government cuts have seen over 500 children’s centres and 475 libraries close, potholes 
are left unfilled, and 80% of councils workers now say have no confidence in the future of 
local services

• Northamptonshire has already gone bust, and more councils are predicted to collapse 
without immediate emergency funding 

• Councils now face a further funding gap of £7.8 billion by 2025 just to keep services 
‘standing still’ and meeting additional demand. Even Lord Gary Porter, the Conservative 
Chair of the Local Government Association, has said ‘Councils can no longer be expected 
to run our vital local services on a shoestring’

This Council condemns Chief Secretary to the Treasury Liz Truss for stating on BBC Newsnight 
on 1st October 2018 that the government is “not making cuts to local authorities”, when all 
independent assessments of government spending show that this is entirely false; and that this 
Council further notes that Prime Minister Theresa May has also claimed that “austerity is over” 
despite planning a further £1.3bn of cuts to council budgets over the next year;

This Council agrees with the aims of the ‘Breaking Point’ petition signed by labour councillors 
across the country, in calling for the Prime Minister and Chancellor to truly end austerity in local 
government by:

• Reversing next years planned £1.3bn cut to council budgets;
• Immediately investing £2bn in children’s services and £2bn in adult social care to stop 

these vital emergency services from collapsing;
• Pledging to use the Spending Review to restore council funding to 2010 levels over the next 

four years

This Council resolves to:

 Support the ‘Breaking Point’ campaign, recognising the devastating impact that austerity 
has had on our local community

 Ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer, the Prime 
Minister, and the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
setting out the funding pressures faced by our local council, and calling on the Government 
to truly end austerity in local government

Page 135

Agenda Item 10a

https://www.ft.com/content/9c6b5284-6000-11e7-91a7-502f7ee26895


This page is intentionally left blank



Motion from the High Peak Labour Group to Full Council : Council Tax Collection Protocol

Proposed by Cllr Anthony Mckeown
Seconded by Cllr Damien Greenhalgh

This council notes : 

1. Budget constraints mean councils face significant pressure to collect all the tax they’re owed.
2. That in 2016/17 this council referred 1153 council tax cases to bailiffs.
3. For residents in vulnerable or complicated circumstances intervention by bailiffs can cause 

unnecessary additional stress and added fees making clearing outstanding debt more complicated.

This council resolves :

1. To put in place a formal policy concerning the use of bailiffs and collection agents covering 
residents in vulnerable circumstances.

2. Exempt residents in receipt of Council Tax Support from Bailiff action.
3. To sign the Citizens Advice Council Tax Protocol which was jointly developed between the Citizen’s 

Advice and the Local Government Association.

Page 137

Agenda Item 10b



This page is intentionally left blank



Motion from the High Peak Labour Group to Full Council : Single Use Plastics 

Proposed by Cllr Jean Todd

Seconded by Cllr David Kerr

This Council notes: 

 Most plastic does not decompose; a plastic bottle can last for 450 years in the marine 
environment. Plastic slowly fragments into smaller pieces but never truly go away- these 
are known as microplastics.

 Everyday approximately 8 million pieces of plastic are entering the oceans. Estimates 
suggest that by 2050 there could be more plastic in our oceans than fish.

 Approximately 5,000 items of marine plastic pollution have been found per mile of beach in 
the UK. Plastic bottles and packaging make up a third of plastic pollution entering the sea. 
Tyre dust, maritime waste, nurdles and synthetic microfibers make up another 47% of the 
problem.

 Plastic pollution causes harm to wildlife such as fish, seabirds and dolphins. Recent 
research has found marine plastic in 100% of marine turtles, 59% of whales, 36% of seals 
and 40% of seabirds. 100,000 marine mammals and turtles are killed by plastic pollution 
every year. 1 in 3 fish caught for human consumption contains plastic.

 UK rivers have been found to be heavily polluted with microplastics. Recent studies have 
also found microplastics in both tap and bottled water.

 The plastics crisis requires action by national and local governments to reduce plastic 
pollution by increasing recycling rates and eliminate unnecessary single-use plastic (SUP).

This Council believes:

 We need to move away from a linear plastics economy, where we take, make and dispose 
of plastic, towards a circular system where we capture the value of plastics material - 
keeping plastic in the economy and out of the oceans.

 National government are not taking decisive action to deal with the problem of plastic 
pollution.

This Council therefore commits to:

 To become a full signatory of the ‘Plastic Free Pledge’ by eliminating all single-use plastics 
within Council managed buildings and facilities by 2020.

 Incorporate the reduction of single-use plastic into the Council’s waste strategy, and 
investigate ways to further improve our recycling performance by making it easier for 
residents to recycle by seeking ways in which a wider range of plastics and other dry 
recyclable materials can go into the brown bins.

 Consider with partners the installation of water fountains across the High Peak.
 Work with and encourage the public, local businesses, partners and institutions to go 

‘plastic free’. 
 Investigate incentivising traders on Council land to sell re-usable or non-plastic biogradable 

containers and invite customers to bring their own, with the aim of phasing out single-use 
plastics, including investigating the possibility of requiring food and drink vendors to avoid 
SUPs as a condition of their event permission.

 Work with existing local and national groups and experts such as Keep Britain Tidy to 
implement these changes.

 Ask the cabinet member responsible for the environment to write to the Government 
Minister for Environment, requesting that the reduction of single-use plastic form part of the 
government’s Resources and Waste Strategy.

Page 139

Agenda Item 10c



 Ensure, where practical, all future council procurement exercises eliminate the use of 
single-use plastics, replacing them with sustainable or re-usable alternatives where 
practicable. 

Page 140


	Agenda
	3a Minutes - 13 September 2018
	3b Minutes - 7 November 2018
	6 To approve the recommendations from the Executive
	6a Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23
	Appendix A

	7 To approve the recommendations from the Audit and Regulatory Committee
	7a Treasury Management Update
	Appendix A

	7b Appointment of Mayor 2019/20
	8 To approve the recommendations from the Licensing Committee
	8a Gambling Policy Update (Statement of Principles 2019-2022)
	Appendix A

	9 To approve the recommendations from the Standards Committee
	9a Standards Committee Annual Report 2017/18
	Appendix A

	10a Breaking Point Campaign
	10b Council Tax Collection Protocol
	10c Single Use Plastics

